# Protein L-isoaspartyl, D-aspartyl Omethyltransferases: Catalysts for protein repair

Author: Clare O'Connor

Persistent link: http://hdl.handle.net/2345/3978

This work is posted on eScholarship@BC, Boston College University Libraries.

2006

This preprint version of the chapter is reprinted on the electronic archive of Boston College with the generous permission of the publisher.

This chapter was originally published as Chapter 13 of The Enzymes, Vol. 24 (Eds. Tamanoi, F. and Clarke, S.) Elsevier, 2006.

http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/bookdescription.cws home/708689/description#description

This preprint version of the chapter is reprinted on the electronic archive of Boston College with the generous permission of the publisher.

## Protein L-Isoaspartyl, D-Aspartyl O-Methyltransferases: Catalysts for Protein Repair

Clare M. O'Connor

Biology Department, Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA 02467 Phone: 617-552-2553; Email: oconnocn@bc.edu

## ABSTRACT

Protein L-isoaspartyl, D-aspartyl O-methyltransferases (PIMTs) are ancient enzymes that are distributed through all phylogenetic domains. PIMTs catalyze the methylation of Lisoaspartyl, and to a lesser extent D-aspartyl, residues arising from the spontaneous deamidation and isomerization of protein asparaginyl and aspartyl residues. PIMTs catalyze the methylation of isoaspartyl residues in a large number of primary sequence configurations, which accounts for the broad specificity of the enzyme for protein substrates both in vitro and in vivo. PIMTcatalyzed methylation of isoaspartyl substrates initiates the repair of the polypeptide backbone in its damaged substrates by a spontaneous mechanism that involves a succinimidyl intermediate. The repair process catalyzed by PIMTs is not completely efficient, however, leaving open the possibility that unidentified enzymatic activities cooperate with PIMT in the repair process. Structurally, PIMTs are members of the Class I family of AdoMet-dependent methyltransferases. PIMTs have a unique topological arrangement of strands in the central  $\beta$ -sheet that provides a signature for this class of enzymes. The regulation and physiological significance of PIMT have been studied in several model organisms. PIMTs are constitutively synthesized by cells, but they can be upregulated in response to conditions that are potentially damaging to protein structures or when proteins are stored for prolonged periods of time. Disruption of PIMT genes in bacteria and simple eukaryotes produces subtle phenotypes that are apparent only under stress. Loss of PIMT function in transgenic mice leads to fatal epilepsy, suggesting that PIMT function is particularly important to neurons in mammals.

## CONTENTS

I. Introduction	3
A. Historical overview	3
II. Biochemistry of PIMT-catalyzed reactions	4
A. Physical properties of PIMTs	4
B. PIMT catalyzes the formation of protein carboxyl methyl esters	4
C. Protein D-aspartyl and L-isoaspartyl residues are modified by PIMT	5
D. Methyl-accepting sites in protein substrates	7
E. PIMT-catalyzed methylation initiates the repair of polypeptide backbones	8
III. Crystallographic studies of PIMTs	9
A. Class I methyltransferases with a signature topology	9
B. Substrate binding and catalysis	9
C. Additional C-terminal domains in PIMTs from some hyperthermophiles	10
IV. Phylogenetic distribution of PIMT activities deduced from whole genome sequences	11
V. Biochemistry of protein isoaspartyl methylation <i>in vivo</i>	12
A. Human erythrocytes	12
1. Characteristics of protein isoAsp methylation in intact cells	12
2. Age-dependent increases in protein methylation	13
B. Nonerythroid mammalian cells	14
C. Xenopus oocvtes	14
1. Kinetic analysis of protein methylation	15
2. Subcellular compartmentation of PIMT and methyl-accepting proteins	15
3. Alternative processing of isoAsp proteins	15
VI. Accumulation of isoaspartvl and racemized proteins during aging	16
A. Collagen	16
B. Crystallin	17
C. Amyloid	17
VII. Physiological studies of PIMT function	18
A. Mammals	18
1. Cellular and subcellular distribution	18
2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation	19
3. Functional analysis in transgenic models	20
B. Plants	21
1. Distribution of PIMT activities in higher plants	21
2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation	22
3. Functional importance of PIMT in plants	23
C. Drosophila	23
1. Distribution of PIMT activities in <i>Drosophila</i>	23
2. Gene structure and regulation of PIMT activity	
3. Functional analysis in transgenic models	
D. Caenorhabditis elegans	
1. PIMT activities during <i>C. elegans</i> development	
2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation	
3. Functional analysis of PIMT	
E. Bacteria	25
1. Protein isoAsp methylation in <i>E. coli</i>	
2. Gene structure	
3. Functional analysis of PIMT in bacteria	
5	

## I. INTRODUCTION

Due to the inherent chemical reactivities of amino acid side chains, proteins are subject to a variety of spontaneous modifications that can negatively affect the functionality of a protein. These modifications include oxidative damage [1,2], deamidation [3] and racemization [4] reactions. If not metabolized, the abnormal products of these reactions can accumulate over time in long-lived proteins. Therefore, cells use both proteolytic systems and repair enzymes to reduce the burden of structurally damaged proteins. Much of the damage incurred by proteins is irreparable, and the destruction of damaged proteins by proteolytic systems is well-established. By contrast, only a very small number of protein repair enzymes have been identified. The focus of this chapter is one of these repair enzymes, the protein L-isoaspartyl/D-aspartyl methyltransferase (PIMT<sup>1</sup>: E.C.2.1.1.77) that catalyzes the S-adenosylmethionine (AdoMet)dependent methylation of L-isoaspartyl (L-isoAsp) and D-aspartyl (D-Asp) residues in agedamaged proteins. The goal of this chapter is to review the biochemistry of PIMT-catalyzed methylation, structural studies of PIMT, the distribution and regulation of PIMT activities in living organisms, and insights into the biological significance of protein isoAsp methylation gained from transgenic models. In addition to articles that focus on PIMT, the review includes information obtained from high-throughput genomic studies. Because of the large number of published manuscripts, it has not been possible to include all of the studies whose results have contributed to our current understanding of PIMT function. Many questions remain unanswered with respect to PIMT function, and this chapter attempts to point out questions in need of further investigation.

#### A. Historical overview

PIMT was serendipitously discovered in 1965 by Axelrod and Daly [5] while analyzing the metabolism of [<sup>14</sup>C-methyl]AdoMet in extracts prepared from bovine pituitaries. The specificity of the reaction was not recognized at the time. Instead, the activity was described as a "methanol-forming enzyme," based on the presence of radioactive methanol in the extracts, which we now know was derived from the spontaneous hydrolysis of protein carboxyl [<sup>14</sup>C-methyl] esters formed by PIMT. A few years later, the enzyme was correctly identified as a protein carboxylmethyltransferase [6,7] and purified to homogeneity from calf thymus [8]. It was another 10 years before D-Asp [9,10] and L-isoAsp [11,12] residues were identified as the substrate residues modified by PIMT.

The complete amino acid sequences of the human erythrocyte and bovine brain PIMTs were described in 1989 [13,14], paving the way for the first molecular cloning of the gene [15], molecular analyses of PIMT expression [16,17] and the development of transgenic models. The first three-dimensional structure of PIMT was solved for the *Thermatoga* enzyme [18] and followed by additional crystallographic studies exploring the catalytic mechanism of PIMT [19,20]. Physiological roles for PIMT continue to be explored in model organisms ranging widely in their biological complexity [21-24]. Results from these studies, discussed in more detail below, indicate that PIMT is an ancient enzyme that has been strongly conserved during evolution. PIMT activity is expressed constitutively in most cells, but its function is not essential under many conditions. Evidence suggests, however, that PIMT plays an important role in the maintenance of functional protein structures under stress conditions and during long-term storage.

## **II. BIOCHEMISTRY OF PIMT-CATALYZED REACTIONS**

#### **A. Physical properties of PIMTs**

PIMT activities were first characterized and purified from mammalian sources [8], but have subsequently been shown to be widely distributed throughout all domains of life (Section IV). In mammals, PIMT activity can be detected in all tissues, although the measured specific activities vary considerably between tissues [25-27]. The enzyme has been purified to homogeneity from several tissues, including spleen [8], brain [14] and erythrocytes [13,28]. With few exceptions [29], PIMT fractionates as a cytosolic enzyme with a calculated molecular weight of 24,000 – 27,000. The chromatographic behavior of PIMT on gel filtration columns is consistent with that of a globular, monomeric protein [28,30]. Two major isozymes of PIMT have been purified from bovine brain [31] and human erythrocytes [30,32] which differ only in their C-terminal sequences [33,34]. Analysis of cDNA clones indicates that the isozymes arise by differential splicing [33,35]. Substitution of an -RDEL for an -RWK terminus changes the surface charge of the native protein sufficiently that the two isozymes can be resolved by anion exchange chromatography. The significance of the different C-termini is unknown. Although the -RDEL terminus of the more acidic isozyme is similar to that of an endoplasmic retention signal, both isozymes are found in the cytosolic fraction and neither form is associated with microsomes [34]. Biochemically, there are no significant differences in the substrate preferences or the kinetic parameters of the reactions catalyzed by the isozymes [30-32,36], suggesting that they play similar roles in cells. Supporting this conclusion, both isozymes also function similarly in transgenic models [37].

PIMTs are ubiquitously distributed in plants as well (Section VIIB), but the enzymes have been less thoroughly studied. A PIMT activity has been purified to homogeneity from wheat germ [27] which displays chromatographic properties consistent with a slightly acidic, monomeric enzyme with a molecular weight of 25,000. Measured  $K_ms$  for the wheat enzyme with isoAsp substrates are almost two orders of magnitude higher than those of human PIMT with the same isoAsp substrates, suggesting that the active sites of mammalian and plant PIMTs have undergone considerable divergence. From genomic information, it is clear that higher plants have duplicated *PIMT* genes and it is likely that two closely related PIMTs are expressed (Section VIIB). In this respect, two different PIMTs have been overexpressed from *Arabidopsis* cDNAs, but the biochemical properties of the second PIMT have not been investigated in detail [38,39].

Most of the biochemical information on PIMTs from lower eukaryotes and microbes has been obtained using recombinant proteins. The physical properties of these recombinant enzymes are similar to those previously isolated from mammalian and plant tissues. With the exception of two PIMTs from hyperthermophiles (Section IIIC). the enzymes are approximately the same size as those from higher eukaryotes , and they catalyze the methylation of both protein and peptide substrates. Table I lists PIMTs which have been studied in some detail, together with additional sources of information about the enzymes, including relevant accession numbers for online databases.

## **B.** PIMT catalyzes the formation of protein carboxyl methyl esters

PIMT catalyzes the transfer of a methyl group from AdoMet to either the  $\alpha$ - carboxyl group of isoAsp residues or the  $\beta$ -carboxyl group of a D-Asp residues in peptide and protein substrates (Fig. 1). The evidence supporting the unusual nature of these substrate residues and

their spontaneous generation during aging is discussed in Section IIC. Stereochemically, D-Asp and L-isoAsp residues are surprisingly similar in the distribution of functional groups [11,40], accounting for PIMT's ability to recognize both classes of substrates. The products of the reaction are a protein carboxyl methyl ester and a molecule of S-adenosylhomocysteine (AdoHcy), which acts as a potent end-product inhibitor of the reaction [41,42].

Kinetics studies have suggested that PIMT works by a rapid-equilibrium random sequential bi-bi mechanism [41,42], but structural studies are more consistent with an ordered sequential mechanism (Section IIIB) in which AdoMet binding precedes peptide binding and the release of methylated peptide precedes AdoHcy release [20,43]. The turnover number of PIMT calculated from kinetic data is always very low, on the order of 0.1-1.0 mol min<sup>-1</sup>, although  $V_{max}$  varies with different isoAsp substrates [20,44,45]. In general, the turnover number with peptide substrates is significantly higher than that with protein substrates, suggesting that the greater conformational flexibility of peptide substrates facilitates product formation.

The protein carboxyl methyl esters formed by PIMT are unstable, turning over with halftimes ranging from minutes to hours at physiological pH [46,47]. The processing of protein carboxyl methyl esters appears to be completely nonenzymatic. At the present time, there is no compelling evidence for protein demethylases or any other enzymatic activities that might participate in processing esters [48]. Studies with synthetic peptide substrates indicate that the immediate product of demethylation is a succinimide structure (Fig. 1), which forms spontaneously as methanol is released [11,49]. The chemical mechanism is postulated to involve the nucleophilic attack of the carboxyl peptide nitrogen on the ester carbonyl group. The actual rate of succinimide formation is significantly greater than the rate of ring hydrolysis and shows a strong dependence on the nature of the carboxyl amino acid. Studies with synthetic peptides indicate that small side chains facilitate succinimide formation, in the relative order of glycine, serine and alanine [50]. Protein methyl esters formed in intact cells also show wide variations in the rate of methanol release, reflecting the different primary sequence configurations surrounding physiological methylation sites [47].

#### C. Protein D-aspartyl and L-isoaspartyl residues are modified by PIMT

The unusual nature of the substrate sites for PIMT was first discovered by Steven Clarke's laboratory in 1982, due in part to the fortuitous congruence of chemical and biological investigations of protein carboxyl methylation reactions in the human erythrocyte [10]. Erythrocytes presented an ideal model for studying protein carboxylmethylation reactions because of their relatively simple biochemistry and because the incorporation of methyl groups from L-[methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine into protein methyl esters is not obscured by the incorporation of radioactivity into newly synthesized proteins or into methylated nucleic acids. Clarke's group showed that the protein methyl esters formed in either a lysed cell preparation [46] or in intact cells [51] were associated with a large number of membrane proteins and that these methyl esters showed a hydrolytic stability characteristic of Asp methyl esters. Aspartic acid  $\beta$ -[<sup>3</sup>H]methyl esters could also be isolated from biosynthetically labeled membranes by digestion with carboxypeptidase Y [9], but yields were low, because most esters were hydrolyzed to [<sup>3</sup>H]methanol during the digestion.

At the same time, the physiological experiments, discussed in more detail (Section V.A.) revealed features of the methylation reactions that were difficult to reconcile with a regulatory role for PIMT in erythrocytes. The experiments demonstrated that all of the methylation reactions involving membrane proteins were markedly substoichiometric [51]. In addition, the

number of methyl esters in an erythrocyte was positively correlated with the age of the cell [52], raising the possibility that methyl-accepting sites arose from age-related damage. Consistent with this hypothesis, the Asp  $\beta$ -methyl esters released from erythrocyte membranes by carboxypeptidase Y digestion were found to possess the D-stereoconfiguration. These Asp  $\beta$ -methyl esters were degraded by D-amino acid oxidase, but not L-amino oxidase, and they could be chemically derivatized to L-Leu-D-Asp  $\beta$ -methyl esters [10]. Protein D-Asp residues were hypothesized to originate post-translationally from the nucleophilic attack of the C-terminal peptide amino group on the carbonyl carbon in an Asp or Asn side chain, forming an unstable succinimide structure that is susceptible to racemization [10]. This succinimide structure is identical to the one that forms during the hydrolysis of protein methyl esters and deamidation reactions (Fig. 2).

Hydrolysis of a peptide succinimide generates a mixture of Asp- and isoAsp-containing peptides [50,53]. The first evidence that L-isoAsp residues were substrates for PIMT was provided by the Clarke and Aswad laboratories. Building on an earlier observation that adrenocorticopin hormone (ACTH) was methylated by PIMT *in vitro* [54], Murray and Clarke [11] tested all of the potential deamidation products of the ACTH-derived hexapeptide sequence VYPNGA for methyl-accepting activity. In this experiment, the L-isoAsp variant incorporated 0.8 mol/mol methyl groups during incubation with PIMT, while neither the L-Asp, D-Asp nor D-isoAsp variants possessed detectable methyl-accepting activity. In a complementary experiment, Aswad demonstrated that an isoAsp variant of deamidated full-length ACTH also acted as a high affinity substrate for PIMT [12]. The  $K_m$  of full-length isoaspartyl-ACTH was 1.9  $\mu$ M, similar to the 6  $\mu$ M value calculated for the hexapeptide [11].

Figure 2 shows the relative kinetic constants for the spontaneous deamidation, isomerization and racemization reactions involving the ACTH-derived model peptide VYP(X)GA, where X corresponds to an Asn, Asp, succinimide or Asp-*O*-methyl ester. The data were calculated from the combined data from two experimental studies [50,53]. Values for the kinetic constants have been normalized to that for Asn deamidation, which has been assigned a value of 1.0, since this is the rate-limiting reaction in cells. Generalizing from this model, L-isoAsp-containing peptides are predicted to comprise the major products of deamidation reactions. By contrast, D-Asp residues are the least frequent products of deamidation reactions, because the rate of succinimide hydrolysis is an order of magnitude faster than that of succinimide racemization. In addition, cleavage of succinimide rings is biased, producing about three times more isoAsp than Asp isomer. Thus, protein deamidation is likely to generate isoAsp-containing proteins with high frequency and proteins with racemized Asp residues with a much lower frequency.

The sequence requirements surrounding the L-isoAsp methyl-accepting site have been explored by using synthetic peptides as PIMT substrates. These experiments indicate that PIMT recognizes L-isoAsp residues in a wide range of primary sequences with limited commonality. In one comparative study [44], the affinity of human erythrocyte PIMT for 35 different L-isoAsp-containing peptides varied over several orders of magnitude. Measured K<sub>m</sub>s for the most active substrates were in the 0.1-1.  $\mu$ M range, while PIMT recognized less active substrates with K<sub>m</sub>s approaching and even exceeding 1 mM. High affinity substrates had at least one amino acid N-terminal and two amino acids C-terminal to the modified isoAsp residue, suggesting that neighboring residues were important in positioning substrates within the active site. The wide range of peptide substrates modified by PIMT is consistent with the broad specificity of the enzyme observed in intact cells (Section II.D.).

Considering that D-Asp  $\beta$ -[<sup>3</sup>H]methyl esters have been isolated from intact erythrocytes incubated with L-[<sup>3</sup>H-methyl]-L-methionine [10,55,56], it is surprising that peptides with D-Asp residues are generally not methylated or are poorly methylated by PIMT. Both human [56] and *Pyrococcus* [40] PIMTs modify D-Asp residues in synthetic peptides , but the measured K<sub>m</sub>s are two to three orders of magnitude higher than the K<sub>m</sub>s for the corresponding L-isoAsp peptides. The peptides may not provide good models for physiological methyl-accepting sites, since purified PIMT catalyzes the formation of D-Asp  $\beta$ -[<sup>3</sup>H]methyl esters using erythrocyte membranes as a substrate *in vitro* [36]. Furthermore, the production of D-Asp  $\beta$ -methyl esters in the purified system was reduced in the presence of L-isoAsp peptides, suggesting that D-Asp and L-isoAsp substrates compete for the PIMT active site. Taken together, the biochemical data is best explained by a dual role for PIMT in recognizing both L-isoAsp and D-Asp substrates.

## D. Methyl-accepting sites in protein substrates

From the very first identification of a protein carboxylmethyltransferase (then termed a carboxymethylase) activity in calf spleen [6], it has been clear that PIMT recognizes a broad range of protein substrates. Endogenous methyl-accepting proteins can be detected in extracts prepared from all mammalian tissues [25,57] and across phyla [58-60]. The identification of these endogenous methyl-accepting proteins in cellular extracts is complicated by the lability of protein methyl esters under mildly basic conditions [6,25,46], thus requiring the use of acidic gel systems for their resolution. Under the appropriate separation conditions, methyl-accepting activity is always found to be distributed among a heterogeneous group of proteins characteristic of a particular cell or tissue [46,61-63]. This broad specificity for protein substrates has proven useful for biochemical analyses of PIMT. A variety of commercially-available, inexpensive proteins, including most notably ovalbumin and gelatin, have been useful for monitoring the purification of PIMT activities and characterizing its enzymatic properties [6,31].

The broad specificity demonstrated by PIMT is readily explained by the unusual nature of protein D-Asp and L-isoAsp residues, which arise spontaneously as proteins age. Because all Asn and Asp residues in a protein are theoretically subject to the kinds of spontaneous damage that give rise to D-Asp and L-isoAsp residues (Fig. 2), cells would be expected to contain many different methyl-accepting proteins. Detailed studies with individual proteins indicate, however, that structural features of a protein strongly influence the actual rate of protein isomerization. In general, isoAsp residues arise at higher rates in flexible regions of polypeptides [64-66], most probably because of steric difficulties associated with succinimide formation in more structured regions of polypeptides [67]. In this respect, methyl-accepting sites have been identified near the N-termini of several proteins, including, serine hydroxymethyltransferase [68],  $\alpha$ -globin [69] and protein kinase A [70]. Calmodulin (CaM) has provided a particularly useful model for exploring the effects of protein conformation on the generation of isoAsp residues, because of the profound conformational changes associated with Ca<sup>2+</sup>binding. In the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, CaM is highly structured and demonstrates very low methyl-accepting activity at sites near the N-terminus and in the flexible central helix [71]. In the absence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, CaM is very flexible and isoAsp residues form rapidly under physiological conditions at multiple sites in the protein, but most significantly in the third and fourth EF hands responsible for high affinity Ca<sup>2+</sup>binding [64,65,72]. Methyl-accepting sites in the EF-hands are derived from both Asn and Asp residues, altering CaM's Ca<sup>2+</sup>binding properties [73] and contributing to a severe reduction in enzymatic activity [72].

Additional evidence for the formation of protein isoAsp residues on a physiologically significant time scale has come from the biotechnology industry. In a growing number of cases, the appearance of an isoAsp residue is reported to adversely affect the stability of a recombinant protein designed for therapeutic use. Examples of recombinant proteins negatively affected by isoAsp formation include human growth hormone [74], epidermal growth factor [75,76], interleukin-1 $\beta$  [77], the thrombin inhibitor hirudin [78], tissue plasminogen activator [79], stem cell factor [80], and recombinant antibodies [81] [82]. Sequence analyses indicate that isoAsp residues do not arise randomly in protein sequences. Instead, there are clearly hot spots for isoAsp generation in the sequences. Comparison of the primary sequences surrounding isoAsp residues reveals a strong tendency for a glycine residue to be situated at the *N*+1 position, consistent with an increased propensity for succinimide formation at these sites [50,83,84].

Protein methyl-accepting activity has been widely used to assess the isoAsp content of proteins and has even been developed into a commercial kit, but the presence of an isoAsp residue is not sufficient to constitute a methyl-accepting site. This has been shown most clearly with a naturally occurring isoAsp variant of bovine ribonuclease that has been purified to homogeneity and studied in considerable detail. The isoAsp residue, which arises from deamidation of Asn-67 [85,86], is located in the crystal structure in a highly structured surface loop [87] where it is refractory to modification by PIMT [88]. Structural constraints in the intact protein are responsible for this poor methyl-accepting activity, because a tryptic fragment containing isoAsp-67 is readily methylated by PIMT [88]. This results provides a cautionary note to investigators using protein methyl-accepting activity to assess the isoAsp content of proteins [89], which is difficult to measure with chemical methods.

#### E. PIMT-catalyzed methylation initiates the repair of polypeptide backbones

The appearance of an isoAsp residue in a protein introduces an additional carbon into the polypeptide backbone, profoundly affecting local structure. Biochemical evidence indicates that PIMT-catalyzed methylation initiates the repair of the polypeptide backbone. The mechanism underlying protein repair has been studied extensively with peptide substrates [49,88,90,91]. As discussed in Section IIB, methyl esters formed by PIMT spontaneously hydrolyze to form an internal succinimide (Fig. 1), which hydrolyzes to a mixture of isoAsp and Asp peptides (Fig. 2). L-Asp products of the hydrolysis can be considered repaired, in that the normal polypeptide backbone configuration is restored, while L-isoAsp hydrolysis products can be methylated again by PIMT. Thus, by multiple cycles of methylation and demethylation, isoAsp residues in synthetic peptide substrates are converted to L-Asp residues in high yields [88,90,91]. A minor fraction of synthetic peptide substrates, representing 10-20% of the initial substrate, is not repaired following incubation by PIMT, because the succinimide has racemized. The D-isoAsp products generated by succinimide hydrolysis are considered irreparable, while D-Asp products are generally poor substrates for PIMT (Section II.B.).

Because of their greater structural complexity, it has been more difficult to demonstrate the structural repair of isoaspartyl-containing proteins by PIMT. Fortunately, several proteins can be converted to isomerized forms in sufficient quantity to provide useful models for potential repair, and PIMT has been shown to restore impressive amounts of enzymatic activity to isoAsp-containing forms of both CaM [72] and the bacterial HPr phosphocarrier protein [92]. Significantly, PIMT was unable to completely restore activity to either CaM or HPr even after exhaustive methylation, probably because irreparable isomers were generated during succinimide hydrolysis. The inefficiency of the protein repair pathway outlined in Fig. 2 is striking in that it lacks the stereochemical specificity and efficiency characteristic of most cellular processes. In addition to the fact that the products of the processing pathway initiated by PIMT are heterogeneous, no mechanism has been identified for converting isoAsp residues to Asn residues, even though Asn are the likely origin of many isoAsp residues in proteins. It is an open, but important, question whether other proteins participate in and help to guide the repair process *in vivo*.

## **III. CRYSTALLOGRAPHIC STUDIES OF PIMTs**

#### A. Class I methyltransferases with a signature topology

The first crystal structure of a PIMT was solved by Skinner et al. [18] for the enzyme from Thermatoga maritima, a hyperthermophilic eubacterium. The structure predicted from their model is a modified Rossman fold consisting of a central seven-stranded  $\beta$ -sheet flanked by an  $\alpha$ -helix on either side. Similar  $\alpha\beta\alpha$  structures have been subsequently observed in the orthologous PIMTs from Pyrococcus furiosus [19], Sulfolobus tokodaii [93], Drosophila melanogaster [20], and humans [43,94], consistent with strong evolutionary conservation. Fig. 3 shows the topology diagram and three-dimensional structure of fly PIMT as an example. PIMTs consist of a PIMT-specific N-terminal subdomain (lightly shaded in Fig. 3) and a central methyltransferase domain (dark shading) that is also common to class I AdoMet-dependent methyltransferases with other substrate specificities [95,96]. The  $\beta$ -sheet contains seven strands, one of which is antiparallel to the other six strands. In PIMTs, the central sheet has the topological arrangement of  $3\uparrow 2\uparrow 1\uparrow 4\uparrow 5\uparrow 6\downarrow 7\uparrow$ , which is a defining characteristic of PIMTs. By contrast, the strands in the central  $\beta$ -sheets in other Class I AdoMet-dependent MTases are arranged in a  $3\uparrow 2\uparrow 1\uparrow 4\uparrow 5\uparrow 7\downarrow 6\uparrow$  topology [95,96]. As might be expected, strongly conserved amino acid side chains in the conserved methyltransferase domain are involved in binding AdoMet and AdoHcy. Fig. 3 shows a molecule of AdoHcy bound to PIMT, with an asterisk indicating the position of the sulfur atom.

## **B.** Substrate binding and catalysis

Two highly conserved regions that are unique to PIMTs form the sides of the substrate binding cleft and provide functional groups important in binding isoAsp substrates [18,19]. One side of the substrate binding cleft is contributed by helix  $\alpha 4$  and a small  $\beta$  hairpin, consisting of strands  $\beta$ a and  $\beta$ b, located at the end of the N-terminal subdomain. The short  $\beta$  hairpin extends over the AdoHcy binding cleft in the crystal structure (open arrow in Fig. 3). The other side of the substrate binding cleft consists of a short hydrophobic coil near the C-terminus, extending from the end of strand β7 in the central sheet. From a co-crystal of *P. furiosus* PIMT, adenosine, and an isoAsp-containing hexapeptide substrate, VYP(iso)DHA, it is possible to identify interactions important in substrate binding [19]. The crystallographic model shows that peptides bind to the enzyme in an extended conformation suggestive of local denaturation. Many stabilizing interactions arise from hydrogen bonds between the substrate and the polypeptide backbone of PIMT. The carboxylate group of the bound isoaspartyl residue forms hydrogen bonds with residues on both sides of the substrate binding cleft. One hydrogen bond involves an invariant serine in the N-terminal subdomain. In fly PIMT, this Ser-60 is located in a short loop connecting the  $\beta$ b strand with the  $\alpha$ 4 helix (Fig. 3). Mutagenesis has confirmed the importance of Ser-60 in catalysis. Substitution of Ser-60 with either Thr or Gln progressively reduces

catalytic activity, and a S60A mutant is completely inactive [20]. The isoAsp carboxylate group also forms hydrogen bonds with the backbone nitrogen of Val-219 in the conserved C-terminal sequence on the other side of the substrate binding cleft.

The orientation of the C-terminus in fly PIMT is rotated approximately 90° relative to the C-termini in other PIMT crystals. Effectively, this displacement generates a more open conformation in the substrate binding cleft that allows greater solvent access to AdoHcy. In the homologous structures from *P. furiosus* and humans, the C-terminus folds back over the bound AdoHcy, limiting solvent access to 1.4% and 0.5% of the respective structures. By contrast, 9% of the AdoHcy in the *D. melanogaster* structure is accessible to solvent. The differences between PIMT structures suggests that PIMT alternates between open and closed conformations. These conformational changes at the C-terminus could be important in the exchange of substrates and products [97]. The open conformation would facilitate the exchange of AdoHcy and AdoMet, whereas the closed conformation would facilitate the binding of isoAsp-containing substrates, while dehydrating the active site. Considering all of the structural data together, including the relative placements of bound cofactors and peptide substrates, the data are consistent with an ordered sequential mechanism for PIMT-catalyzed reactions. The structural data predicts the AdoMet binding would precede peptide binding and that methylated peptide release would precede AdoHcy release (see also Section II.A.).

#### C. Additional C-terminal domains in PIMTs from some hyperthermophiles

The  $\alpha\beta\alpha$  domain described above is common to all PIMTs and represents the entire structures of PIMTs from humans, flies, and *P. furiosus*. Additional species-specific C-terminal domains are present, however, in *T. maritima* and *S. tokodaii* PIMTs. *T. maritima* PIMT contains an additional irregularly structured C-terminal domain consisting of 103 amino acids [18]. The structure of the domain is unlike other known folds and the sequence appears to be unique to *T. maritima*. Nonetheless, the domain is required for enzymatic activity, because a recombinant protein lacking the C-terminal domain displays much lower levels of activity that the full-length protein [98].

An entirely different C-terminal domain and domain structure has been identified in PIMT from the archaeon, *S. tokodaii*. The additional C-terminal domain in *S. tokodaii* PIMT consists of approximately 30 amino acids arranged in a single loop and a short  $\alpha$ -helix [93]. The C-terminal domain in *S. tokodaii* PIMT is postulated to promote oligomerization. In the crystal structure, C-terminal domains interact with one another to form a coiled coil structure at the center of a hexamer. The hexamer is thought to be assembled from three homodimers held together by disulfide linkages involving Cys-149, a residue that is notably lacking in orthologous PIMT sequences. Cys-149 is located in a surface helix connecting strands of the central sheet and is required for dimerization. Mutagenesis indicates that the C-terminal domains are not required for hexamer formation, but they help to stabilize the hexamer, as shown by differential scanning calorimetry. It is not clear if oligomerization is required for PIMT activity, because the enzymatic properties of *S. tokodaii* PIMT have not been studied. Interestingly, the *S. tokodaii* genome contains a coding sequence for another PIMT without the additional C-terminal domain, so it is not clear if both forms are physiologically important.

## IV. PHYLOGENETIC DISTRIBUTION OF PIMT ACTIVITIES DEDUCED FROM WHOLE GENOME SEQUENCES

As the data continues to accumulate from whole-genome sequencing projects, it is clear PIMT orthologs are distributed throughout all phylogenetic kingdoms and domains. PIMT can therefore be classified as an ancient enzyme, but not as one whose activity is essential for life, since orthologs are missing is some species. Information about PIMT gene names, locus identification and database accession numbers is give in Table I for the PIMTs that have been studied in detail. More information about the evolution of PIMTs is available for prokaryotic sequences than for eukaryotic sequences, because of the larger number of completed genome sequences. Prokaryotic orthologs of PIMT, known as *pcm* sequences, form the Cluster of Orthologous Group (COG) 2518 [99]. The phylogenetic distribution of *pcm* sequences within the prokaryotes is completely unique and unlike that of any other COG, so PIMT function appears to have evolved independently of other metabolic enzymes. Supporting this conclusion, *pcm* sequences are rarely observed in gene fusions.

Within the prokaryotes, *pcm* orthologs are much more widely distributed in the archaea than in the eubacteria, perhaps reflecting the ability of archaea to live under extreme conditions that might be expected to cause structural damage to proteins. Multiple *pcm* genes are present in the genomes of some archaea, such as *Archaeoglobus fulgidis* and *S. tokodaii*, although it is not clear if both genes encode functional proteins. *A. fulgidis* has multiple gene duplications, including *pcm*, which show differential codon usage and are therefore thought to have arisen from lateral gene transfer [100]. Lateral gene transfer of an archaeal *pcm* sequence is also the most likely origin of the *pcm* gene in *T. maritima*, a hyperthermophilic eubacterium [101]. Sequence comparisons using the BLAST algorithm [102] indicate that the closest orthologs to the *T. maritima* sequence are those from *A. fulgidis* and other archaea, followed by orthologs from the eubacteria.

PIMT-encoding sequences are less widely distributed within the eubacteria than in other domains, and few generalities can be made about their distribution within the eubacteria. Potential PIMT-encoding sequences are present in about half of the eubacterial genomes sequences to date, including *E. coli*, *Rhizobium meliloti* and many opportunistic pathogens. Orthologs of *pcm* are generally not detected in mycoplasma and other obligate pathogens, such as *Treponema* and *Borrelia*. The absence of PIMT in obligate pathogens is not surprising, since these organisms rely on their hosts for many essential functions. One exception is the ulcer bacterium, *Helicobacter pylori*, an obligate parasite of the human gut. *H. pylori* may have retained PIMT function because its ecological niche is an acidic environment containing high concentrations of urea, which could reduce the structural stability of its proteins.

PIMT-encoding sequences are nearly universally distributed in the eukaryotes. The only exceptions identified to date are *Encephalitozoon cuniculi*, a parasitic microsporidium, and yeasts from the order *Saccharomyces*. PIMT orthologs are readily identified in genomes from all other orders of yeast, suggesting that the ancestral yeast PIMT-coding sequence was lost before the genome duplication and subsequent specialization that accompanied the evolution of the Saccharomycetes [103,104]. PIMT-encoding sequences have been maintained in the genomes of all multicellular eukaryotes studied to date. Higher plants are unique in possessing duplicated genes that appear capable of encoding PIMT activities (Section VII.B.). Animal genomes contain a single copy of a PIMT-encoding sequence, but alternative transcript splicing is used in mammalian species to generate multiple isozymes (Section VII.A.).

Figure 4 shows a sequence comparison of the PIMT-encoding sequences from several model organisms and other species in which PIMTs have been studied in detail. The phylogenetic tree derived from the alignment is shown in Fig. 5. The most highly conserved regions of the PIMT sequence include a core methyltransferase fold common to many AdoMet-dependent methyltransferases [96] and additional PIMT-specific regions implicated in the binding of isoaspartyl substrates [18,19].

## V. BIOCHEMISTRY OF PROTEIN ISOASPARTYL METHYLATION IN VIVO

The analysis of protein isoaspartyl methylation reactions in intact cells is a complex undertaking, due to the poor permeability of cells to AdoMet as well as the many different kinds of methylated molecules in cells. Consequently, the most complete information about isoAsp methylation in intact cells has been obtained from a few cell types, such as human erythrocytes and *Xenopus* oocytes, which offer unique advantages for studies of protein isoAsp methylation.

## A. Human erythrocytes

Erythrocytes were a fortuitous choice for methylation studies for several reasons. First, the incorporation of methyl groups into protein methyl esters from L-[methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine is not obscured by the incorporation of radioactivity into newly synthesized proteins or methylated nucleic acids. Secondly, PIMT is the major methyltransferase in erythrocyte cytoplasm [28,55], ensuring that a large fraction of the radioactivity is incorporated into protein [<sup>3</sup>H]methyl esters [47]. In addition, the stoichiometries of individual methylation reactions can be calculated because the biochemical composition of the red cell membrane had already been well-defined [105]. Many of the first studies that established the characteristics of PIMT-catalyzed reactions were carried out in Steve Clarke's laboratory at about the same time that his group identified the unusual nature of PIMT substrates.

## 1. Characteristics of protein isoAsp methylation in intact cells

A heterogeneous group of endogenous methyl-accepting proteins is observed when human erythrocytes are incubated with high concentrations of L- [methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine, the permeable precursor to [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet in erythrocytes [106]. Both membrane and cytosolic proteins are methylated by PIMT [47,51,52,107]. Figure 6 shows a stained gel (left) and fluorogram (right) of cytosolic (lane A) and membrane (lane B) proteins obtained from a typical labeling experiment [108]. The membranes (lane B) in this experiment are "pink ghosts," which retain some of the loosely associated hemoglobin (Hb). This membrane-bound Hb can be released from the membrane with either 100 mM NaCl (lane C) or a nonionic detergent (lane D). In the cytosolic fraction, protein methyl esters are readily detected with both  $\alpha$ -globin and  $\beta$ globin and with an unidentified 35,000 kDa protein. Cytosolic Hb has a very low methylaccepting activity, but its sheer predominance obscures the detection other cytosolic methylaccepting proteins, which include CaM [109,110] and many other proteins [47]. In the membrane fraction (lane B), both integral and peripheral proteins have been identified as methyl-acceptors. Some of the highest levels of methyl-accepting activity are associated with the cytoskeletal proteins, ankyrin and band 4.1 [51,52]. Band 3, the anion transporter protein, is also methylated in intact cells [111,112]. The heavy exposure of the fluorogram in Fig. 6 makes it difficult to resolve Band 3 methylation in the membrane fraction (lane B), but this is apparent in the detergent extract of membranes (land D). Proteolytic mapping indicates that the physiological methylation sites in Band 3 are distributed throughout its sequence [111]. A number of other

unidentified methyl-accepting accepting proteins are also detected in the membrane fraction. Interestingly, the small fraction of Hb that associates with membranes is more highly methylated than cytosolic Hb (see below).

The calculated stoichiometries for individual methylation reactions vary over several orders of magnitude, but all of the reactions are markedly substoichiometric. Bands 2.1 (ankyrin) and 4.1 represent some of the most active methyl-accepting proteins in red cells, yet only about 1% of Band 4.1 polypeptides are methylated at steady state [52]. Methylation stoichiometries are much lower for other erythrocyte proteins. Only one in every thousand Band 3 molecules and one in every 300,000 Hb molecules is estimated to be methylated at steady state [47]. These low stoichiometries are partly explained by the unusual nature of the methylated residues. The spontaneous processes responsible for the generation of D-Asp and L-isoAsp residues (Fig. 2) are relatively slow, and isomerized variants would be expected to comprise only a small fraction of any one polypeptide.

Another factor underlying the low stoichiometries of methylation detected in intact cells is the efficient metabolism of isoAsp residues by PIMT. Biosynthetic labeling studies indicate that erythrocyte protein methyl esters are metabolically labile [47,51]. When cells are incubated continuously with L-[methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine, the rate of [<sup>3</sup>H]methanol production from ester turnover is close to an order or magnitude higher than the rate of radioactive label incorporation into protein methyl esters, indicating that the average life time of a protein methyl ester is very short. Pulse-chase analysis confirms that individual protein methyl esters turn over with half-times ranging from minutes to hours.

Other lines of evidence also indicate that that isoAsp-containing proteins are maintained at very low levels in erythrocytes due to their active metabolism by PIMT [47,113]. When erythrocyte membranes are used as the substrate for PIMT and [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet *in vitro*, methyl groups are not incorporated into the physiological methyl-acceptors unless the cells had been preincubated with methylation inhibitors for several hours prior to membrane isolation [55]. In addition, the methyl-accepting activity of erythrocytes in PIMT-knockout mice is significantly higher than that of normal mice [23,114].

#### 2. Age-dependent increases in protein methylation

The protein repair process may become less efficient as cells age, and this decline may contribute to the higher levels of methyl-accepting activity observed in older cells [52,113,115]. Circulating erythrocytes have a narrowly-defined lifespan of 120 days. As erythrocytes age, membrane blebbing reduces the surface area and disrupts the normal process of membrane transport, causing cells to become more dense. This property can be exploited to separate cells into rough age fractions by centrifugation on density gradients. Fractions enriched in older cells have 3-4 times higher levels of methylated proteins than younger cells in biosynthetic labeling experiments [52,113,115]. The spectrum of methylated proteins does not change with age, however, with individual proteins demonstrating fairly uniform increases in methyl-accepting activity. At the same time that the number of protein methyl esters is increasing in older cells, the specific activity of PIMT is declining, because erythrocytes are unable to synthesize replacements for denatured enzymes *de novo*. Thus, PIMT should become increasingly saturated with substrates in older erythrocytes, which could potentially lead to less effective protein repair.

The reduced resistance of older erythrocytes to oxidative damage may contribute to higher levels of methyl-accepting proteins in older cells. It is well-established that levels of

oxidant defense enzymes decline in older erythrocytes. Failure to resist oxidative damage is manifest in Heinz bodies, aggregates of oxidatively-damaged Hb that associate with the membrane and are hypothesized to play a role in the removal of aged blood cells from the circulation [116]. As shown in Fig. 6, the 1-2% of Hb that associates with erythrocyte membranes is also significantly enriched in methyl-accepting sites. The specific methylaccepting activity of membrane Hb is about 10-fold higher than that of cytosolic Hb [108]. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) may contribute to this higher methyl-accepting activity, because even a short incubation of Hb with acetylphenylhydrazine produces a dramatic increase in Hb's methyl-accepting capacity. [108]. Other experiments with intact erythrocytes have also implicated ROS in the generation of methyl-accepting sites. Erythrocytes exposed to the ROS generators, t-butyl peroxide or hydrogen peroxide, have elevated rates of methylation relative to control cells [117]. Even larger increases in methyl-accepting activity are observed in cells with an inherited deficiency in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase that sensitizes erythrocytes to oxidative stress [118]. The mechanism by which ROS increase methyl-accepting sites is unclear. Chemically, ROS are not expected to react directly with Asn or Asp residues to generate isoAsp residues. The production of isoAsp residues is more likely to be a secondary effect of chemical damage to other amino acids, which alters the three-dimensional structure of the protein.

## **B.** Nonerythroid mammalian cells

Biosynthetic labeling studies with L- [methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine have established that the basic features of carboxyl methylation reactions are similar in erythrocytes and nonerythroid cells, although fewer biochemical details are available in nonerythroid cells. In these experiments, the base lability of methyl esters has been used to differentiate carboxyl methylation reactions from the background of incorporation of radioactivity from L-[methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine into polypeptide backbones and into base-stable linkages with other amino acids. In both brain tissue slices [119,120] and cultured cells [121] [122], the substrates for carboxyl methylation in are heterogeneous. In platelets, methyl esters are associated with more than thirty different proteins resolved by SDS-PAGE [121]. Protein methyl esters in platelets are metabolically labile, as shown by the rapid and continuing evolution of [<sup>3</sup>H]methanol during culture. Similarly, a diverse set of methyl-accepting proteins has been identified in neuroblastoma cells by SDS-PAGE [122]. Individual substrates for PIMT have not been identified in nonerythroid cells, because additional purification steps would be required to separate methyl-accepting proteins from other proteins with similar electrophoretic mobilities. Another complicating factor arises from the fact that simple base treatment does not allow one to distinguish protein Asp methyl esters from esters formed by other enzymes, such as those formed during the C-terminal processing of CAAX-box proteins [123] and C-terminal esters in protein phosphatase 2A [124].

## C. Xenopus oocytes

Erythrocytes are highly specialized cells that have lost their ability to synthesize new protein as well as their intracellular organelles. To understand isoAsp methylation reactions in more typical cells, protein isoAsp methylation has been analyzed in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes, which offer some unique advantages for these studies. Fully-grown oocytes are roughly 1.2 mm in diameter and are easily microinjected with impermeable molecules and macromolecules. Oocytes have an exceptionally large nucleus, the germinal vesicle, that can be manually isolated with minimal contamination [125], and other organelles can be purified by standard differential

centrifugation techniques. Finally, oocytes have been extensively used to study quantitative aspects of protein synthesis and translational regulation [126], making it possible to appreciate the importance of protein carboxyl methylation in the context of overall protein metabolism.

#### 1. Kinetic analysis of protein methylation

*Xenopus* oocytes can be easily injected with impermeable substrates for PIMT, including [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet, isoAsp-containing peptides and protein substrates. Direct injection of [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet allows the investigator to monitor methylation reactions without the background incorporation into proteins encountered using L-[<sup>3</sup>H-methyl] methionine as the metabolic precursor. Kinetic analyses of [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet utilization in oocytes established that protein carboxyl methylation reactions represent approximately one-third of the oocyte AdoMet utilization [127]. The calculated rate of protein carboxylmethylation is very similar to that of protein synthesis for both the aggregate of oocyte proteins [127] and for an individual oocyte protein, CaM [128]. Together, the results indicate that PIMT-catalyzed reactions are metabolically significant in oocytes, even though cells are able to replace damaged proteins by *de novo* synthesis.

#### 2. Subcellular compartmentation of PIMT and methyl-accepting proteins

As in other cells, the substrates for PIMT in oocytes are heterogeneous [127]. Diverse groups of methyl-accepting proteins are found in both the nucleus and cytoplasm, which are quite distinct from each other. Methylation of nuclear proteins could occur in either the nucleus or cytoplasm, because the specific activities of PIMT in the nucleus and cytoplasm are identical. It is likely that PIMT diffuses freely through the nuclear pores, because it is smaller than the exclusion limit for nuclear pores in oocytes [129] and it lacks a nuclear localization signal (NLS). Unfortunately, it has not been possible to identify the individual methyl-accepting proteins in oocytes, because the proteins cannot be labeled to a sufficiently high specific activity with a single injection of [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet.

Some isoAsp-containing proteins in oocytes are not methylated by PIMT because they are sequestered in cytoplasmic organelles. The largest organelles in oocytes are yolk platelets, which undergo a massive increase in size and number during oogenesis [125]. The process of oogenesis occurs over several months, during which time, yolk protein is accumulated by receptor-mediated endocytosis and processed into semi-crystalline arrays within yolk platelets, where they are inaccessible to cytoplasmic PIMT. Figure 7 shows an experiment in which yolk platelets were isolated from oocytes ranging in size from 0.6 to 1.2 mm in diameter and used as substrates for PIMT in vitro [62]. Both of the major yolk proteins, phosvitin and lipovitellin, are methylated by PIMT as well as other minor yolk proteins. The specific methyl-accepting of yolk proteins increases about four-fold between the 0.6 mm (lane 1) and 1.2 mm (lane 6) oocyte. The data in Fig. 7 seriously underestimate the real rate at which methyl-accepting sites accumulate in yolk proteins, however, because newly-synthesized protein is continually added to yolk plates by endocytosis. Nonetheless, the data indicate that methyl-accepting sites can accumulate rapidly in a physiological compartment where PIMT is not present. By contrast, the specific methylaccepting activity of cytosolic proteins does not increase over the same physiological time span, consistent with a repair function for PIMT in oocytes.

## **3.** Alternative processing of isoAsp proteins

The large size of *Xenopus* oocytes has facilitated their use as a microinjection model for analyzing the metabolism of defined isoAsp-containing substrates for PIMT *in vivo*. The oocyte

PIMT is not saturated with endogenous substrates and demonstrates considerable reserve capacity in microinjection experiments. Rates of methylation increase by up to an order of magnitude following the injection of isoAsp peptides or proteins [128,130,131]. At the same time, however, a significant fraction of injected isoAsp-containing peptide and protein substrates are proteolytically degraded, suggesting that carboxyl methylation and proteolysis represent alternative pathways for the metabolism of isoAsp-containing proteins. This last conclusion was strengthened by the demonstration that an isomerized variant of CaM was protected from proteolytic digestion by incubation with PIMT and AdoMet prior to injection [131]. The proteolytic activity responsible for the degradation of isomerized CaM was identified as the proteasome, based on its sensitivity to lactacystin [73]. Interestingly, degradation of isomerized CaM does not appear to require ubiquitination, because purified proteasomes are able to degrade isomerized CaM directly.

## VI. ACCUMULATION OF ISOASPARTYL AND RACEMIZED PROTEINS DURING AGING

An implication of the repair hypothesis is that isoAsp and D-aspartyl sequences will accumulate over time in proteins sequences that cannot be modified by PIMT *in vivo*. Accordingly, one would expect that methyl-accepting sites would accumulate rapidly in extracellular protein sequences that are not normally accessible to PIMT. Only small amounts of PIMT have been detected in plasma, presumably originating in damaged cells [132]. Methyl-accepting sites in intracellular proteins would also be expected to increase if PIMT activities became unable to cope with the burden of damaged proteins, due either to aging or enhanced rates of protein damage. Considerable experimental evidence supports both of these predictions, as discussed below. Although correlative, the data suggest that the absence of PIMT-catalyzed repair could have pathological implications for age-related diseases.

## A. Collagen

Collagen is the major extracellular matrix protein in vertebrates and might therefore be expected to accumulate isoAsp residues over time. Interestingly, the first description of isoAsp generation via a succinimide intermediate involved the  $\alpha$ 1 chain of collagen I [133]. More recent experiments point to a complex chemistry that generates potential substrates for PIMT. The Asp residue in the C-terminal telopeptide A<sub>1209</sub>HDGGR<sub>1214</sub> of collagen  $\alpha$ 1 [134] is derivatized to a mixture of D-Asp and (D/L)-isoAsp variants (Fig. 2), which can be distinguished using isoform-specific antibodies. Due to the normal turnover of bone tissue, the quantities of the various peptides isoforms can be monitored in urine samples obtained from patients. Comparing the isoform profile of individuals ranging in age from 0.2 to 74 years, investigators observed a steady decline in the normal isoform and a corresponding increase in damaged isoforms with donor age [134]. In another experiment, samples obtained directly from cortical bone were found to have higher proportions of isomerized variants than samples from trabecular bone, which turns over more slowly [135], suggesting that older cells are the source of the isomerized variants. Based on these results, it has been suggested that the collagen isoform profile could provide a useful clinical indicator of bone growth and turnover.

A rat model has been used to assess the functional consequences of isoAsp formation in collagen. The specific methyl-accepting activity of rat tail collagen increases dramatically between three and twenty weeks of age [136]. Collagen isolated from the tails of 20-week old

rats had about one-third the ability of collagen from 3-week old rats to support the motility of fibroblasts in a cell migration assay. Exhaustive methylation of the 20-week collagen with PIMT prior to the migration assay restored much of the lost activity, suggesting that isoaspartyl formation and/or racemization can disrupt the extracellular matrix and interfere with normal remodeling processes.

## **B.** Crystallins

The mammalian eye lens has provided a useful physiological model for studying agerelated changes in protein repair. The oldest fiber cells at the center of lens nucleus are as old as the organism, and they are surrounded by layers of progressively younger fiber cells in the lens cortex. The predominant lens proteins are the crystallins, a group of developmentally-regulated proteins responsible for lens transparency. Crystallins are remarkably stable proteins that accumulate over time a large number of chemical modifications caused by oxidation, crosslinking, deamidation, racemization and other processes [137]. At least some of the D-Asp and L-isoAsp residues that have been detected chemically in crystallins are expected to be substrates for PIMT in vivo, because PIMT catalyzes the methylation of all crystallin classes in vitro [138,139]. Detailed chemical information is available for one potential methyl-accepting site, Asp-151 of  $\alpha$ A crystallin [140], which is highly prone to both racemization and isomerization. In this experiment, tryptic peptides corresponding to residues 146-157 were isolated from the lens tissues of newborns and adults aged 30, 60 and 80 years, and the proportion of each isoform was determined using standard chemical methods. The investigators found that the fraction of normal peptide decreased steadily over time, representing only 42% of the total at 80 years, while the D-isoAsp isomer showed the greatest increase with age, representing 35% of the total at 80 years. The D-isoAsp isoform was found to be particularly concentrated in the lens nucleus [141] by immunochemical localization with an isoform-specific antibody.

The pattern of crystallin isoforms and the changes observed during aging are in good agreement with transformations outlined in Fig. 2, if protein repair becomes less efficient during aging. Measurements of PIMT and endogenous methyl-accepting proteins in lens tissues are, in fact, consistent with this possibility. In a comparative study of human lenses varying in age from 3 to 89 years, a negative correlation was observed between PIMT and lens protein methyl-accepting activities. PIMT levels declined steadily with age, while endogenous methyl-accepting activity showed the opposite trend [138,139]. At any age, PIMT specific activity was significantly lower in the lens nucleus than in the cortex, while the opposite relationship was observed for methyl-accepting activity. The functional consequences of declining PIMT are unclear. Exceptionally low levels of PIMT have been observed in cataractous lenses [139,142], but any relationship with cataract formation is strictly correlative.

## C. Amyloid

Extracellular L-isoAsp residues and D-Asp residues have also been identified in the amyloid deposits from patients with Alzheimer's disease [143-147] [148] and may play a role in the formation of these peptide aggregates. The major component of amyloid plaques is the  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide A $\beta$  derived from the processing of the Alzheimer's precursor protein (APP). Various kinds of evidence suggest that racemization and isomerization occur at all three Asp residues in A $\beta$ , located at positions 1, 7 and 23. Structural analysis of the A $\beta$  peptides isolated from neuritic plaques and the parenchymal vasculature reveals mixtures of racemized and

isomerized Asp residues at both positions 1 and 7 [143,144,146], suggesting that the residues arise through the succinimide chemistry shown in Fig. 2. The presence of the A $\beta$ (isoAsp7) variant in both neuritic plaques and the cerebrovascular amyloid has been confirmed cytologically using isoform-specific antibodies [147,148] [149]. Isomerized variants of Asp-23 have not been detected biochemically in amyloid, but this could reflect the fact that only a portion of the amyloid deposits can be solubilized sufficiently for biochemical characterization. Immunochemical experiments with peptide-specific antibodies indicate that A $\beta$ (isoAsp23) is present in both neuritic plaques and the brain microvasculature [148,149]. Staining is particularly intense in the cores of amyloid deposits, suggesting that Asp-23 variants of A $\beta$  are highly insoluble.

Potential roles for isomerized and racemized Asp residues in amyloid formation have been addressed using synthetic peptides corresponding to the various A $\beta$  variants. Modifications to Asp-23 appear to be the most deleterious. Synthetic A $\beta$ 1-42(isoAsp23) showed a much greater tendency to aggregate than either A $\beta$ 1-42(isoAsp7) or normal A $\beta$ 1-42. Aggregation in this experiment was also highly correlated with neurotoxicity with cultured neurons [150]. Racemization of Asp23may also increase its aggregation properties. In a second study, the D-Asp23 variant of A $\beta$ 1-35 was much more prone to aggregation and fibril formation than either A $\beta$ 1-35(D-Asp7) or unmodified A $\beta$ 1-35 [145]. Interestingly, Asp-23 is the site of the Iowa D23N mutation associated with inherited early onset dementia, and the substitution of an Asn residue for Asp-27 increases the propensity of synthetic A $\beta$  peptides to undergo isomerization [149]. It is not clear that PIMT could play a role in preventing Alzheimer's disease, since the isomerization reactions that promote amyloid formation most likely occur in the mature protein, when the relevant amino acids are not accessible to PIMT.

## VII. Physiological studies of PIMT function

PIMT activities are widely distributed across phylogenetic domains (Section IV.), suggesting that PIMT plays a fundamental role in cellular protein metabolism. Nonetheless, cellular requirements for PIMT activity may vary widely. Significant variations in PIMT concentrations have been observed between different cell types within an organism and in a single cell type responding to physiological and environmental stimuli. This section reviews our current understanding of PIMT regulation in several species. The regulatory elements responsible for physiological changes in PIMT activities remain largely unknown. For the most part, PIMT appears to be constitutively produced in cells, although the data suggest that PIMT concentrations may increase in response to the burden of structurally damaged proteins.

## A. Mammals

## 1. Cellular and subcellular distribution

PIMT is ubiquitously expressed in mammalian tissues, although PIMT activities vary widely among tissues and between cell types. In rodents, PIMT specific activities are particularly high in brain and testis, while much lower levels of enzyme activity are present in liver and kidney [25]. Immunohistochemical analyzes of brain slices indicate that PIMT concentrations are significantly higher in neuronal cells than in glial cells, although oligodendrocytes and astroglial cells both stain positively with anti-PIMT antisera [151-153]. Biochemical measurements are consistent with the immunochemical results, because PIMT specific activities in the developing rat brain parallel its population by mature neurons [152]. PIMT activity may be important for neuronal function. Brain tissue contains many different substrates for PIMT,

including important neuronal proteins such as synapsin [57,154,155] and tubulin [156]. The loss of PIMT function in transgenic mice (see below) results in neuronal death and the development of fatal epileptic seizures, while overexpression of PIMT in primary cortical neurons is able to protect cells against Bax-induced apoptosis [157].

Within the testis, PIMT activities are present at significantly higher levels in germ cells than in somatic cells. Rodent testes depleted of germ cells as a consequence of either mutation or X-ray irradiation have reduced levels of PIMT [158,159], and during prepuberal development, PIMT specific activities increase in parallel with the population of the seminiferous tubules with spermatogeneic cells and mature sperm [158-161]. The changes in PIMT activity during spermatogenesis have been followed using staged cell populations isolated from dissociated seminiferous tubules. [158,159]. These experiments indicate that PIMT is upregulated during the final haploid phase of spermatogenesis. It is tempting to speculate that high concentrations of PIMT in mature sperm may have important implications for fertility, because mature sperm are translationally inactive cells that may be stored in the epididymis and vas deferens for several weeks prior to ejaculation. Sperm isolated from both the caput (proximal) and caudal (distal) epididymides have been shown to possess both PIMT and methyl-accepting proteins [162,163]. Unfortunately, it has not been possible to directly address the functional important of PIMT to male fertility in transgenic mice, because PIMT-deficient mice die before they are fully fertile [24].

#### 2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation

A single gene encoding PIMT is present in mammalian genomes. The first cloned Pcmt gene was isolated from a rat brain cDNA library by Sato et al. [15], who also reported the presence of multiple transcripts in rat brain mRNA. Subsequent experiments established that the mouse *Pcmt1* [16] and human *PCMT1* [164] genes are organized into eight exons that are transcribed and spliced into at least three transcripts of varying lengths [15]. An alternative splice site has been identified in the seventh exon [33,35,165], which is used to produce the coding sequences for isozymes with distinct C-termini (Section II.A.). The 5'-flanking sequences of the mouse [16] and human [164] genes have features that are typical of constitutively expressed genes. Both sequences are GC-rich, with CpG islands that start approximately 400 bp upstream from the transcription start site and extend through exon 1 and intron 1. The methylation status of the CpG islands is not known, but their presence suggests that the genes may be subject to silencing by DNA methylation. The genes lack conventional TATA boxes, and transcription begins at multiple start sites [35,164]. Most of the consensus transcription factor binding sites that can be identified (using stringent criteria) are binding sites for widelyexpressed transcription factors, such as Sp1, ETF and AP1. Interestingly, the sequences also contain potential antioxidant [166] and unfolded protein [167] response elements, but there is no evidence that *Pcmt1* transcription responds to these stimuli (O'Connor, unpublished data). A minimal sequence for the mouse promoter has been functionally defined by monitoring reporter gene expression in cultured NIH/3T3 cells [35]. This 407 bp sequence extends from the transcription start sites upstream through the GC-island, including the transcription factor binding sites. Overall, the features of the *Pcmt1* promoter are consistent with the wide expression of PIMT in mammalian tissues. Additional tissue-specific enhancers undoubtedly exist and contribute to the tissue-specific differences in *Pcmt1* regulation, but these factors have not yet been identified.

The regulation of PIMT levels appears to occur primarily at the transcriptional level in mammals, since transcript levels closely parallel measured PIMT specific activities. High levels of *Pcmt1* transcripts are detected in mouse brain and testis, while much lower transcript levels are detected in preparations of liver RNA [16,161]. Brain and testicular tissues also show parallel increases in PIMT enzymatic activities and *Pcmt1* transcript levels during early development, coincident with increased numbers of neurons and spermatogenic cells, respectively [158,161]. The size distribution of *Pcmt1* transcript is similar in all tissues except the testis. The major testicular transcript is a smaller 900 bp transcript with a unique 3'-untranslated region derived from alternative splicing in intron 7 [24,35]. This transcript is positively regulated during the differentiation of pachytene spermatocytes to round spermatids. It is possible that this unique 3'-untranslated region is important for translational regulation during the late stages of spermiogenesis when the spermatid nucleus has condensed and become transcriptionally inactive. Like the protamine and testis-specific actin mRNAs that are translated in late spermatids [168], *Pcmt* transcripts are distributed in both the polysomal and non-polysomal fractions obtained by ultracentrifugation [24].

#### 3. Functional analysis in transgenic models

Loss of PIMT function in mice produces phenotypes that appear to primarily affect the nervous system. Two different strains of mice generated by homologous recombination demonstrate virtually identical phenotypes [23,114]. PIMT-deficient mice appear fairly normal at birth, although the animals are slightly smaller than wild-type. Histologically, most tissues appear normal and the overall neuroanatomy is normal. Reproducible abnormalities are detected, however, in some pyramidal neurons in layer V of the precentral cortex, granule cells in dentate gyrus, and some astrocytes in the hippocampus [114]. A few weeks after birth, brains of knockout mice become enlarged and brains continue to grow at higher rates than in wild-type mice [114,153]. The underlying biochemical disturbances accompanying these morphological changes may involve alterations in insulin signaling through PI3K/Akt pathway. Western blots and immunochemical data indicate that the insulin and IGF-1 receptors are up-regulated in the knockout hippocampus, and components of the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway are more highly phosphorylated [153].

The biochemical changes in knockout mice become manifest in several behavioral disorders. PIMT-deficient mice fail to mate and they experience epileptic seizures that increase in severity before mice finally die from fatal seizures between 22 and 60 days after birth [23,114,169]. Mutant animals also display exaggerated sensitivity to convulsive agents, reduced memory and altered behaviors in several quantitative assays [170,171]. Electrophysiological measurements with isolated brain slices indicate that synaptic transmission within the hippocampus is abnormal [170], possibly accounting for the behavioral disorders displayed by the mice. Neurons appear to be the cell type most affected by the loss of PIMT function, because the epileptic phenotype is partially rescued by PIMT transgenes in which the neuron-specific enolase promoter controls Pcmt expression [172]. Rescued mice can live up to five times longer than knockout mice, and they accumulate fewer unmodified isoAsp-containing proteins in their brain tissue. More complete rescue is observed when either of the PIMT isozymes is expressed in knockout mice under the control of the stronger, but less specific, prion promoter [155]. The epileptic phenotype is also partially rescued when an adenovirus containing the PIMT1 coding sequence is injected into the ventricles of embyonic mice [37]. In all of the rescue experiments, there is a good correlation between the degree of phenotype rescue and protein repair.

Non-neural tissues appear to be less affected by the loss of PIMT activity, even though methyl-accepting proteins also accumulate in these tissues. No histological differences are apparent in the non-neural tissues of PIMT-deficient mice and no consistent phenotypes have been observed. Potential testicular defects have been examined in considerable detail [24], because of the high PIMT concentrations normally detected in testis (see above). Molecular analyses indicate that spermatogenesis occurs normally in the absence of PIMT activity. Sperm-specific markers appear at the normal times during development and acrosome reaction-competent sperm can be recovered from the epididymides of knockout mice [24]. It has not been possible to perform quantitative analyses on the fertilization-competence of PIMT-deficient sperm, since the animals die from seizures about the same time that they reach sexual maturity. In addition, PIMT-deficient mice fail to mate. Knockout mice rescued with a neuron-specific *enolase:Pcmt* transgene are partially fertile [172], suggesting that behavioral factors contribute to the infertility of knockout mice. Additional experiments are required to exclude direct effects of PIMT depletion on sperm function, because the neuron-specific *enolase* promoter has been reported to be partially active testis [202].

Overall, there is a strong correlation between the severity of mouse phenotypes and the accumulation of unprocessed isoAsp-containing proteins [23,114,172]. As predicted from the scheme in Fig. 2, PIMT-deficient mice also have higher levels of racemized proteins [201], which are also unrepaired. Lack of protein repair may not be sufficient to totally account for the phenotypes observed in PIMT-deficient mice, however, because the ratio of AdoMet to AdoHcy is unexpectedly elevated in the brains of PIMT-deficient mice [173]. AdoMet is known to have pharmacological properties [174] and it is also involved in the synthesis of other neurotransmitters [175], raising the possibility that epigenetic factors contribute to the phenotypes displayed by PIMT-deficient mice.

## **B.** Plants

#### 1. Distribution of PIMT activities in higher plants

Data from several studies have established that PIMT activities are widely distributed among all the major divisions of the plant kingdom [27,40,58,59]. In a comparative study [59], functional PIMT activity was detected in crude extracts prepared from 45 different species, representing 23 families of both seedless and seed-bearing plants. Fairly similar levels of PIMT activity were observed in seeds obtained from coniferous species and from both monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous angiosperms. Overall, lower levels of PIMT activity were detected in extracts prepared from mosses and ferns than in extracts prepared from seedbearing plants. PIMT activity was not detected in several algal species, but this could reflect the limitations of using enzymatic assays, rather than genomic information, to identify sources of PIMTs. Biochemical measurements are probably best construed as providing only rough estimates of PIMT activity, because some plant extracts contain substances that can interfere with biochemical measurements of PIMT activity [58,59].

In higher plants, PIMT specific activities are often concentrated in seeds. It has been suggested that PIMT activity is important for maintaining the structural integrity of embryonic proteins during long-term storage in the seed [27]. Consistent with this hypothesis, PIMT is positively regulated during seed development [17] and is more concentrated in embryonic tissue than in the endosperm [59]. Depending on the species, seeds can be stored for considerable periods of time, retaining the ability to germinate and produce progeny. An extreme example is the sacred lotus plant, whose seeds can retain the ability to germinate for centuries. PIMT

appears to be very stable in lotus seeds, as shown by the recovery of robust PIMT activity from seeds estimated to be 95 and 416 years old [176]. In a more typical example, PIMT activity was detected in barley seeds aged for 17 years, even though the seeds were no longer viable. Higher levels of PIMT activity were detected in younger seeds stored for 5 or 11 years, which still maintained partial viability [59]. The older seeds also demonstrated higher methyl-accepting activity than younger seeds, suggesting that the seed PIMT may become progressively more saturated with potential substrates over time.

PIMT is not restricted to the seed tissue of higher plants. Enzymatic activity is also detected in extracts prepared from nonreproductive tissues. Considerable variability is observed, however, in the tissue distribution of PIMT between plant species. Relatively high levels of PIMT are present in corn stems and leaves and in carrot roots and leaves. By contrast, rice and wheat have only low levels of activity in the same tissues [177]. In *Arabidopsis*, PIMT enzymatic activity was not detected in tissues other than seeds, although *PIMT* transcripts were readily identified in RNA samples prepared from these tissues [38]. Additional studies will be needed to determine if this apparent contradiction reflects post-transcriptional regulation of PIMT levels in nonreproductive tissue or if the difference is caused by the presence of substances in tissue extracts that interfere with PIMT assays.

#### 2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation

The regulation of PIMT production in plants is expected to be at least as complex as in animals, because higher plants may contain more than one gene that encodes PIMT. Large scale genome sequencing and microarray projects involving *Arabidopsis* and cereal grains have already produced a wealth of information about *PIMT* gene organization and transcript processing that will need to be reconciled with biochemical information in the future. Information from the sequencing and microarray projects is available online in databases maintained by the Institute for Genomic Research (www.tigr.org) and the Arabidopsis Information Resource (www.arabidopsis.org). These projects have identified paralogous *PIMT* sequences on two different chromosomes in the genomes of *Arabidopsis*, rice, and wheat. Like many other plant genes, the two *PIMT* genes most likely arose by ancestral gene duplication. The duplicated genes have undergone considerable sequence divergence, yet the predicted proteins within a species are more than 85% similar. There is good evidence that both genes are transcribed. Full-length cDNA and EST clones have been reported for both *PIMT* genes in *Arabidopsis* and rice. EST sequences have also been reported for both wheat genes, although only one full-length cDNA sequence has been isolated [27].

*PIMT* genes in plants are organized into four exons which may used for alternative splicing. The most detailed information about *PIMT* transcription is available for *Arabidopsis*. *PIMT1* transcripts are more abundant than *PIMT2* transcripts, but *PIMT2* may be subject to more complex regulation. Alternative splicing between exons 1 and 2 of *PIMT2* primary transcripts generates transcripts for two distinct proteins, each of which is predicted to have a NLS [39]. The NLS is functional in *Arabidopsis* cells, but their significance is unclear, since PIMTs are expected to diffuse freely through nuclear pores [62]. NLS sequences are not present in other *PIMT2* sequences reported in the public databases or in transcripts of the *PIMT1* gene . It is not clear if alternative processing occurs during *PIMT1* transcription. Two transcripts hybridize with *PIMT1* probes on northern blots [38], but further analysis is needed to determine if this is the result of alternative processing of *PIMT1* transcripts or cross-hybridization of *PIMT2* transcripts with the *PIMT1* probe.

There is good evidence for the transcriptional regulation of PIMT activities in higher plants during development and in response to environmental stress. In wheat, *PIMT* transcription increases during caryopsis development coincident with increases in PIMT activity. PIMT transcription also increases during salt stress and desiccation [17]. The phytohormone, abscisic acid (ABA), is hypothesized to be the common regulator in these transitions. ABA is known to promote seed development, and it has been implicated as well in plant salt responses. Consistent with this hypothesis, ABA treatment of 4-day old wheat seedlings induces *PIMT* transcription. In all cases, there is good correspondence between data obtained from northern blots and enzymatic assays, suggesting that regulation of PIMT levels in wheat occurs primarily at the transcriptional level.

ABA has also been implicated in regulation of *PIMT* transcription in *Arabidopsis*. The 5'-flanking sequences of both the *PIMT1* [38] and *PIMT2* [39] genes contain putative ABA response elements . Transcription of both genes increases during seed development and in response to ABA treatment. Some differences are observed, however, in the responses of the two genes to environmental stress. Transcription of *PIMT2* increases in response to both salt stress and dehydration, while *PIMT1* is minimally affected by the stresses.

## 3. Functional importance of PIMT in plants

Functional analyses of PIMT in plants are strictly correlative at present. Based on the distribution of PIMT activities and the positive regulation of *PIMT* transcript by ABA, it is likely that PIMT is important for maintaining protein function during long-term storage or under stress conditions. Potential roles for PIMT in plant survival can be tested in transgenic plants, because transgenic *Arabidopsis* lines deficient in single *PIMT* genes are already available in stock collections. The development of transgenic models will be complicated by the fact that *PIMT* genes are duplicated in higher plants, and it may be necessary to inactivate both genes in order to analyze PIMT function.

## C. Drosophila

## 1. Distribution of PIMT activities in Drosophila

The small size and short lifespan of *Drosophila* have made it possible to analyze PIMT levels throughout the complete lifespan. PIMT can be detected biochemically in the early embryo before embryonic transcription is initiated, suggesting that maternal transcripts are translated in the oocyte and early embryo [178]. PIMT levels then remain essentially constant during embryogenesis, before dropping to their lowest levels in larvae, and subsequently increasing during pupal development. The highest levels of PIMT are found in the adult fly. PIMT specific activity increases sharply during the first day after eclosion to the adult level, where it is maintained at an essentially constant level for the duration of the lifespan [179,180].

## 2. Gene structure and regulation of PIMT activity

The *Drosophila Pcmt* gene consists of four exons and is located in region 83B of the third chromosome. There is no evidence for alternative splicing during the processing of *Pcmt* transcripts, since a single 1.6 kb transcript is detected on northern blots of *Drosophila* RNA [179]. The abundance of this transcript is always proportionate to the biochemical PIMT activity, suggesting that PIMT is primarily regulated at the transcriptional level in flies. The regulatory factors that control *Pcmt* transcription are unknown. The upstream flanking region of the *Pcmt* gene possesses few consensus binding sites for known transcriptional regulators in

*Drosophila*. Transcription initiates approximately 200 bp upstream from the initiation codon in the proximity of a TATA box and an arthropod capsite consensus element [181]. The absence of other binding sites for tissue- and stage-specific transcription factors seem to be consistent with constitutive regulation of the gene.

The only changes that have been noted in *Pcmt* expression occur in response to heat. Flies respond to a series of five 15-min heat shocks at 34 °C by elevating PIMT levels approximately 50% [180]. In addition, the PIMT specific activity is slightly higher in flies raised at 29 °C than in flies raised at 25 °C (O'Connor, data not shown). These small temperature-dependent increases in PIMT expression do not appear to be mediated by the wellcharacerized *Drosopohila* heat-shock transcription factor [182], however, because no binding sites can be detected in the *Pcmt* flanking sequence.

## 3. Functional analysis in transgenic models

No loss-of-function *Pcmt* mutants are currently available in *Drosophila*, and high throughput RNAi screens have not identified any phenotypes associated with *Pcmt* silencing. Functional studies have been restricted to overexpression experiments, which suggest that PIMT plays an important role in mitigating the aging process. When the binary GAL4-UAS system [183] is used to drive constitutive overexpression of PIMT activity in flies, the median lifespan is increased by 30-40% [180]. The longevity effect is temperature-dependent. Lifespan is extended when flies are raised at 29 °C , but not at 25 °C, suggesting that PIMT activity can become limiting under conditions where rates of protein isomerization are expected to increase. PIMT is one of very few proteins that extend the *Drosophila* lifespan include Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase [184-186], mitochondrial Mn-superoxide dismutase [187], heat shock proteins [188], and methionine sulfoxide reductase [189]. A common feature of all these proteins is that they are involved in preventing or repairing damage to protein structures.

## **D.** Caenorhabditis elegans

## 1. PIMT activities during C. elegans development

The nematode *C. elegans* is a popular model organism in which to study both early development and aging. The *pcm-1* gene in *C. elegans* encodes a PIMT of 225 amino acids. The enzyme has been overexpressed in *E. coli* and shown to catalyze the methylation of isoAsp peptide substrates, although much less effectively than human PIMT [45]. Unlike mammalian PIMTs, the *C. elegans* enzyme does not recognize ovalbumin as a substrate, suggesting that considerable divergence has occurred in the enzyme active site. Biochemical analyses of PIMT activity during the *C. elegans* lifespan are difficult because of the organism's small size, but PIMT is reported to be enriched in dauer larvae, a long-lived quiescent state that worms can enter in response to overcrowding or nutritional deprivation. The PIMT specific activity measured in dauer larvae is approximately twice that of mixed-stage populations, in good agreement with transcriptional data (see below). Dauer larvae can survive for periods as long as 70 days in this altered metabolic state, which perhaps increases the metabolic requirement for PIMT to maintain protein integrity.

## 2. Gene structure and transcriptional regulation

The *pcm-1* gene is located on chromosome 5 and organized in 7 exons [45]. It is not clear if alternative processing generates multiple transcripts in *C. elegans*, because data on *pcm-1* 

transcription have been obtained exclusively from genome-wide microarray experiments. These data reveal only small fluctuations in the concentration of *pcm-1*transcripts during development. In a carefully synchronized study of early development [190], *pcm-1* transcript levels remained essentially constant from the oocyte through the larval stages. While the *pcm-1* transcripts in oocytes are of maternal origin, embryonic transcription subsequently maintains *pcm-1* transcripts at a steady state. Transcript levels do not change significantly during the adult lifespan [191], but are approximately two-fold higher in dauer larvae [192,193], in good agreement with the biochemical measurements [45].

In microarray experiments, the transcription profile of *pcm-1* does not cluster with those of other genes. A broader view is required to begin to detect associations between pcm-1 transcription and that of other genes. Such a compendium of gene expression has been constructed for C. elegans genes based on 553 microarray experiments from 30 different laboratories [194]. The experimental data used in the analysis included experiments involving different developmental stages, growth conditions, aging, stress responses and mutant strains. The outcome of the analysis was the identification of groups of genes, or "mountains," whose expression was highly correlated. Using this statistical data, *pcm-1* was placed in Mount 6, consisting of 909 genes that are transcribed at elevated levels in neuronal cells [194]. Mount 6 includes a broad spectrum of proteins with diverse functions, and much additional work will be required to establish functional relationships between them. The tendency for Mount 6 transcripts to be elevated in neuronal cells is particularly interesting in light of the elevated PIMT concentrations in mammalian neurons, suggesting that the functional importance of PIMT to neuronal function is conserved during evolution. Because of its comparative simplicity, C. elegans may provide a useful model in which to investigate physiological roles for PIMT in the nervous system.

#### 3. Functional analysis of PIMT

PIMT-deficient worms have been generated using transposon mutagenesis [22]. The mutant strains were isolated by screening for the spontaneous excision of a Tc1 transposon located in the fourth intron of the *pcm-1* gene. Imprecision excision of the transposon generated a deletion encompassing exons 2 through 5. Homozygous PIMT-deficient worms were viable and developed normally, but showed several subtle phenotypes. In mixed cultures with wild-type worms, the frequency of the null allele decreased slowly over time. The difference between the wild-type and mutant worms was a slight one, however, because the null allele was still detected after 65 generations. A second phenotype was observed during dauer phase. The mean survival time for mutant worms in dauer phase was 24.5 days, compared to 27 days for the wild-type worms, but the differences are subtle. It will be important to extend these studies in the future to exclude any contributions of genetic drift or genetic background to the phenotypes.

#### E. Bacteria

#### 1. Protein isoAsp methylation in *E. coli*

The functional significance of bacterial PIMTs has been studied most thoroughly in *E. coli*, because of the techniques available for genetic manipulation. The *E. coli* PIMT sequence is 31% identical to the human PIMT sequence, and the enzyme catalyzes methylation of the same isoAsp substrates as human PIMT, but with reduced efficiency [195]. The  $K_m$ s of *E. coli* PIMT for isoAsp peptides and ovalbumin are significantly higher than those of mammalian PIMTs with

the same substrates. Surprisingly, *E. coli* PIMT may also be less effective than mammalian PIMT at modifying bacterial methyl-accepting proteins. This possibility was serendipitously discovered during the analysis of *E. coli* that had been genetically engineered to overexpress rat PIMT [196]. Multiple proteins in extracts prepared from both wild-type and overexpressing *E.coli* were able to act as substrates for purified mammalian PIMT, but the specific methyl-accepting activities of proteins from PIMT-overexpressing bacteria were significantly lower than those from wild-type bacteria, suggesting that overexpressed rat PIMT had previously modified isoAsp residues *in vivo*. The most prominent methyl-accepting protein was identified as ribosomal protein S11, which was methylated to a stoichiometry estimated as 0.5 mol/mol S11. The results suggest that isoAsp sites are inefficiently methylated in intact *E. coli*, in contrast to their efficient methylation in higher eukaryotes. In addition, the results raise the possibility that L-isoAsp residues in S11 are generated by a catalytic mechanism , both because of the speed with which they arise and because their fractional representation is greater than that predicted for a spontaneous mechanism of isoAsp generation (Fig. 2).

## 2. Gene structure

The regulation of *pcm* transcription has not been studied in detail. Genome annotation predicts that the *pcm* gene is part of an operon that includes four other coding sequences. The predicted coding sequences partially overlap one other, such that the *pcm* coding sequence would be situated at the 3'-end of a polycistronic transcript. The proximal gene, *SurE*, encodes a protein with nucleotidase activity that has also been described as a survival protein. *SurE* has been previously shown to interact genetically with *pcm* [197], but the mechanism is obscure. The functions of the other proteins in the operon have not been identified. The *E. coli* operon organization has a restricted distribution within the bacteria. It will be interesting to determine if *pcm* is transcribed as part of a polycistronic mRNA and if the relationship between the proteins encoding by the operon is coincidental or functional.

## 3. Functional analysis of PIMT in bacteria

The functional importance of bacterial PIMT has been tested in mutant strains. A strain lacking PIMT activity was constructed by replacing the endogenous *pcm* gene with a chloramphenicol resistance gene [198]. Gene replacement did not affect the growth or stress resistance of vegetative cells, but produced phenotypes that were manifest only under stationary phase culture conditions. Mutant cells showed a reduced resistance to several stresses that could conceivably destabilize protein structures, including methanol, paraquat, and high salt. In all cases, the mutant phenotypes could be complemented by a wild-type *pcm* gene, indicating that the loss of PIMT function was responsible for the phenotypes. The *pcm* mutation also conferred a competitive disadvantage to stationary phase mutants co-cultured with normal cells. Interestingly, the mutant phenotypes have been recently shown to be restricted to cultures maintained under alkaline conditions [199], which are known to promote the generation of protein isoAsp residues by the spontaneous mechanism shown in Fig. 2. In agreement with this prediction, extracts prepared from cells grown at pH 8 or 9 had elevated methyl-accepting activity in direct proportion to the alkalinity of the culture medium.

Other evidence that *E. coli* PIMT might be involved in maintaining native protein structures was obtained in a genetic screen designed to identify multicopy suppressors of protein aggregation and inclusion body formation [200]. In this screen, the *E. coli* tester strain overexpressed a three-domain fusion protein, consisting of the preS2 and S' domains of the

hepatitis B surface antigen N-terminal to  $\beta$ -galactosidase. The fusion protein is soluble in *E. coli* cytoplasm at 37 °C, but denatures and forms insoluble aggregates at 43 °C. Transformation of the tester strain with a genomic segment containing the *pcm* coding sequence suppressed fusion protein aggregation at 43 °C. In addition, PIMT overexpression also protected  $\beta$ -galactosidase from thermal denaturation in extracts prepared from the transformed cells. The mechanism by which PIMT suppresses aggregation requires further investigation. The fusion protein is a highly nonphysiological substrate produced at high levels in the cytoplasm, and its aggregation has not actually been linked to isoAsp formation. It will also be important to determine if a direct link exists between the suppression of fusion protein aggregation and PIMT catalytic activity.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Berlett, B. S., and Stadtman, E. R. (1997). Protein oxidation in aging, disease, and oxidative stress. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 20313-20316.
- 2. Stadtman, E. R., and Levine, R. L. (2000). Protein oxidation. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* **899**, 191-208.
- 3. Robinson, N. E., and Robinson, A. B. (2001). Deamidation of human proteins. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA* **98**, 12409-12413.
- 4. Bada, J. L. (1984). *In vivo* racemization of mammalian proteins. *Methods Enzymol.* **106**, 98-115.
- 5. Axelrod, J., and Daly, J. (1965). Pituitary gland: enzymatic formation of methanol from S-adenosylmethionine. *Science* **150**, 892-893.
- 6. Liss, M., Maxam, A. M., and Cuprak, L. J. (1969). Methylation of protein by calf spleen methylase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **244**, 1617-1622.
- 7. Morin, A. M., and Liss, M. (1973). Evidence for a methylated protein intermediate in pituitary methanol formation. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* **52**, 373-378.
- 8. Kim, S., and Paik, W. K. (1970). Purification and properties of protein methylase II. *J. Biol. Chem.* **245**, 1806-1813.
- 9. Janson, C. A., and Clarke, S. (1980). Identification of aspartic acid as a site of methylation in human erythrocyte membrane proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **255**, 11640-11643.
- 10. McFadden, P. N., and Clarke, S. (1982). Methylation at D-aspartyl residues in erythrocytes: Possible step in the repair of aged membrane proteins. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA* **79**, 2460-2464.
- 11. Murray, E. D., Jr., and Clarke, S. (1984). Synthetic peptide substrates for the erythrocyte protein carboxyl methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **259**, 10722-10732.
- Aswad, D. W. (1984). Stoichiometric methylation of porcine adrenocorticotropin by protein carboxyl methyltransferase requires deamidation of asparagine 25. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 10714-10721.
- Ingrosso, D., Fowler, A. V., Bleibaum, J., and Clarke, S. (1989). Sequence of the D-aspartyl/L-isoaspartyl protein methyltransferase from human erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 20131-20139.
- 14. Henzel, W. J., Stults, J. T., Hsu, C.-A., and Aswad, D. W. (1989). The primary structure of a protein carboxyl methyltransferase from bovine brain that selectively methylates L-isoaspartyl sites. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 15905-15911.
- 15. Sato, M., Yoshida, T., and Tuboi, S. (1989). Primary structure of rat brain protein carboxyl methyltransferase deduced from cDNA sequence. *Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun.* **161**, 342-347.
- Romanik, E. A., Ladino, C. A., Killoy, L. C., D'Ardenne, S. C., and O'Connor, C. M. (1992). Genomic organization and tissue expression of the murine gene encoding the protein β-aspartate methyltransferase. *Gene* 118, 217-222.
- 17. Mudgett, M. B., and Clarke, S. (1994). Hormonal and environmental responsiveness of a developmentally regulated protein repair L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase in wheat. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 25605-25612.
- Skinner, M. M., Puvathingal, J. M., Walter, R. L., and Friedman, A. M. (2000). Crystal structure of protein isoaspartyl methyltransferase: A catalyst for protein repair. *Structure* 8, 1189-1201.

- 19. Griffith, S. C., Sawaya, M. R., Boutz, D. R., Thapar, N., Katz, J. E., Clarke, S., and Yeates, T. O. (2001). Crystal structure of a protein repair methyltransferase from *Pyrococcus furiosus* with its L-isoaspartyl peptide substrate. *J.Mol.Biol.* **313**, 1103-1116.
- Bennett, E. J., Bjerregaard, J., Knapp, J. E., Chavous, D. A., Friedman, A. M., Royer, W. E., Jr., and O'Connor, C. M. (2003). Catalytic implications from the *Drosophila* protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase structure and site-directed mutagenesis. *Biochemistry* 42, 12844-12853.
- 21. Li, C., and Clarke, S. (1992). A protein methyltransferase specific for altered aspartyl residues is important in *Escherichia coli* stationary-phase survival and heat-shock resistance. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA* **89**, 9885-9889.
- 22. Kagan, R. M., Niewmierzycka, A., and Clarke, S. (1997). Targeted gene disruption of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* L-isoaspartyl protein repair methyltransferase impairs survival of dauer stage nematodes. *Arch.Biochem.Biophys.* **348**, 320-328.
- 23. Kim, E., Lowenson, J. D., MacLaren, D. C., Clarke, S., and Young, S. G. (1997). Deficiency of a protein-repair enzyme results in the accumulation of altered proteins, retardation of growth, and fatal seizures in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **94**, 6132-6137.
- 24. Chavous, D. A., Hake, L. E., Lynch, R. J., and O'Connor, C. M. (2000). Translation of a unique transcript for protein isoaspartyl methyltransferase in haploid spermatids: Implications for protein storage and repair. *Mol. Reprod. Devel.* **56**, 139-144.
- 25. Diliberto, E. J., Jr., and Axelrod, J. (1976). Regional and subcellular distribution of protein carboxymethylase in brain and other tissues. *J. Neurochem.* **26**, 1159-1165.
- 26. Paik, W. K., and Kim, S. (1985) Protein methylation. *In* "The Enzymology of Post-translational Modifications," (R.B. Freedman and C. H. Hawkins, Eds.), pp. 187-228, Academic Press, London.
- 27. Mudgett, M. B., and Clarke, S. (1993). Characterization of plant L-isoaspartyl methyltransferases that may be involved in seed survival: Purification, cloning and sequence analysis of the wheat germ enzyme. *Biochemistry* **32**, 11100-11111.
- 28. Kim, S. (1974). S-adenosylmethionine: protein carboxyl methyltransferase from erythrocyte. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **161**, 652-657.
- 29. Boivin, D., Gingras, D., and Beliveau, R. (1993). Purification and characterization of a membrane-bound protein carboxyl methyltransferase from rat kidney cortex. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 2610-2615.
- 30. Gilbert, J. M., Fowler, A., Bleibaum, J., and Clarke, S. (1988). Purification of homologous protein carboxyl methyltransferase isozymes from human and bovine erythrocytes. *Biochemistry* **27**, 5227-5233.
- 31. Aswad, D. W., and Deight, E. A. (1983). Purification and characterization of two distinct isozymes of protein caroxymethylase from bovine brain. *J. Neurochem.* **40**, 1718-1726.
- 32. Ingrosso, D., Kagan, R. M., and Clarke, S. (1991). Distinct C-terminal sequences of isozymes I and II of the human erythrocyte L-isoaspartyl/D-aspartyl protein methyltransferase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **175**, 351-358.
- 33. MacLaren, D. C., Kagan, R. M., and Clarke, S. (1992). Alternative splicing of the human isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase RNA leads to the generation of a C-terminal -RDEL sequence in isozyme II. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **185**, 277-283.

- 34. Potter, S. M., Johnson, B. A., Henschen, A., and Aswad, D. W. (1992). The type II isoform of bovine brain protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase has an endoplasmic reticulum retention signal (...RDEL) at its C-terminus. *Biochemistry* **31**, 6339-6347.
- 35. Galus, A., Lagos, A., Romanik, E. A., and O'Connor, C. M. (1994). Structural analysis of transcripts for the protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase reveals multiple transcription initiation sites and a distinct pattern of expression in mouse testis: Identification of a 5'-flanking sequence with promoter activity. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **312**, 524-533.
- 36. O'Connor, C. M., Aswad, D. W., and Clarke, S. (1984). Mammalian brain and erythrocyte carboxyl methyltransferases are similar enzymes that recognize both Daspartyl and L-isoaspartyl residues in structurally altered protein substrates. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **81**, 7757-7761.
- Ogawara, M., M., T., Shimizu, T., Nakajima, M., Setoguchi, Y., and Shirasawa, T. (2002). Adenoviral expression of protein-L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase (PIMT) partially attenuates the biochemical changes in PIMT-deficient mice. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 69, 353-361.
- 38. Mudgett, M. B., and Clarke, S. (1996). A distinctly regulated protein repair Lisoaspartylmethyltransferase from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **30**, 723-737.
- Xu, Q., Belcastro, M. P., Villa, S. T., Dinkins, R. D., Clarke, S. G., and Downie, A. B. (2004). A second protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase gene in Arabidopsis produces two transcripts whose products are sequestered in the nucleus. *Plant Physiol.* 136, 2652-2564.
- 40. Thapar, N., Griffith, S. C., Yeates, T. O., and Clarke, S. (2002). Protein repair methyltransferase from the hyperthermophilic archaeon *Pyrococcus furiosus*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 1058-1065.
- 41. Jamaluddin, M., Kim, S., and Paik, W. K. (1975). Studies on the kinetic mechanism of Sadenosylmethionine: protein O-methyltransferase of calf thymus. *Biochemistry* **14**, 694-698.
- 42. Johnson, B. A., and Aswad, D. W. (1993). Kinetic properties of bovine brain protein Lisoaspartyl methyltransferase determined using a synthetic isoaspartyl peptide substrate. *Neurochem. Res.* **18**, 87-94.
- 43. Smith, C. D., Carson, M., Friedman, A. M., Skinner, M. M., Delucas, L., Chantalat, L., Weise, L., Shirasawa, T., and Chattopadhyay, D. (2002). Crystal structure of human Lisoaspartyl-O-methyltransferase with S-adenosyl homocysteine at 1.6-A resolution and modeling of an isoaspartyl-containing peptide at the active site. *Protein Science* 11, 625-635.
- 44. Lowenson, J. D., and Clarke, S. (1991). Structural elements affecting the recognition of L-isoaspartyl residues by the L-isoaspartyl/D-aspartyl protein methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 19396-19406.
- 45. Kagan, R. M., and Clarke, S. (1995). Protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*: : Genomic structure and substrate specificity. *Biochemistry* **34**, 10794-10806.
- 46. Terwilliger, T. C., and Clarke, S. (1981). Methylation of membrane proteins in human erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **256**, 3067-3076.
- 47. O'Connor, C. M., and Clarke, S. (1984). Carboxyl methylation of cytosolic proteins in intact human erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **259**, 2570-2578.

- 48. Barber, J. R., and Clarke, S. (1985). Demethylation of protein carboxyl methyl esters: A nonenzymatic process in human erythrocytes? *Biochemistry* **24**, 4867-4871.
- Johnson, B. A., and Aswad, D. W. (1985). Enzymatic protein carboxyl methylation at physiological pH: Cyclic imide formation explains rapid methyl turnover. *Biochemistry* 24, 2581-2586.
- 50. Stephenson, R. C., and Clarke, S. (1989). Succinimide formation from aspartyl and asparaginyl peptides as a model for the spontaneous degradation of proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 6164-6170.
- 51. Freitag, C., and Clarke, S. (1981). Reversible methylation of cytoskeletal and membrane proteins in intact human erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **256**, 6102-6108.
- 52. Barber, J. R., and Clarke, S. (1983). Membrane protein carboxyl methylation increases with human erythrocyte age. *J. Biol. Chem.* **258**, 1189-1196.
- 53. Geiger, T., and Clarke, S. (1987). Deamidation, isomerization, and racemization at asparaginyl and aspartyl residues in peptides. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 785-794.
- 54. Kim, S., and Li, C. H. (1979). Enzymatic methyl esterification of specific glutamyl residue in coricotropin. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.USA* **76**, 4255-4257.
- 55. O'Connor, C. M., and Clarke, S. (1983). Methylation of erythrocyte membrane proteins at extracellular and intracellular D-aspartyl sites *in vitro*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **258**, 8485-8492.
- 56. Lowenson, J. D., and Clarke, S. (1992). Recognition of D-aspartyl residues in polypeptides by the erythrocyte L-isoaspartyl/D-aspartyl protein methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**, 5985-5995.
- 57. Aswad, D. W., and Deight, E. A. (1983). Endogenous substrates for protein carboxyl metlhyltransferase in cytosolic fractions of bovine brain. *J. Neurochem.* **41**, 1702-1709.
- 58. Johnson, B. A., Ngo, S. Q., and Aswad, D. W. (1991). Widespread phylogenetic distribution of a protein methyltransferase that modifies L-isoaspartyl residues. *Biochem. Int.* **24**, 841-847.
- 59. Mudgett, M. B., Lowenson, J. D., and Clarke, S. (1997). Protein repair L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase in plants. *Plant Physiol.* **115**, 1481-1489.
- 60. Niewmierzycka, A., and Clarke, S. (1999). Do damaged proteins accumulate in *Caenorhabditis elegans* L-isoaspartate methyltransferase (*pcm-1*) deletion mutants? *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **364**, 209-218.
- 61. Johnson, B. A., and Aswad, D. W. (1985). Identification and topography of substrates for protein carboxyl methyltransferase in synaptic membrane and myelin-enriched fractions of bovine and rat brain. *J. Neurochem.* **45**, 1119-1127.
- 62. O'Connor, C. M. (1987). Regulation and subcellular distribution of a protein methyltransferase and its damaged aspartyl substrate sites in developing *Xenopus* oocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 10398-10403.
- 63. Johnson, B. A., Najbauer, J., and Aswad, D. W. (1993). Accumulation of substrates for protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase in adenosine dialdehyde-treated PC-12 cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 6174-6181.
- 64. Ota, I. M., and Clarke, S. (1989). Calcium affects the spontaneous degradation of aspartyl/asparaginyl residues in calmodulin. *Biochemistry* **28**, 4020-4027.
- 65. Potter, S. M., Henzel, W. J., and Aswad, D. W. (1993). *In vitro* aging of calmodulin generates isoaspartate at multiple Asn-Gly and Asp-Gly sites in calcium-binding domains II, III, and IV. *Protein Science* **2**, 1648-1663.

- 66. Aritomi, M., Kunishima, N., Inohara, N., Ishibashi, Y. O., S., and Morikawa, K. (1997). Crystal structure of rat Bcl-x<sub>L</sub>: Implications for the function of the Bcl-2 protein family. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**, 27886-27892.
- 67. Clarke, S. (1987). Propensity for spontaneous succinimide formation from aspartyl and asparaginyl residues in cellular proteins. *Int. J. Peptide Protein Res.* **30**, 808-821.
- 68. Artigues, A., Farrant, H., and Schirch, V. (1993). Cytosolic serine hydroxymethyltransferase. Deamidation of asparaginyl residues and degradation in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 13784-13790.
- 69. Ladino, C. A., and O'Connor, C. M. (1991). Identification of a site for carboxyl methylation in human α-globin. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **180**, 742-747.
- 70. Kinzel, V., Konig, N., Pipkorn, R., Bossemeyer, D., and Lehmann, W. D. (2000). The amino terminus of PKA catalytic subunit--a site for introduction of posttranslational heterogeneities by deamidation: D-Asp2 and D-isoAsp2 containing isozymes. *Protein Science* **9**, 2269-2277.
- 71. Ota, I. M., and Clarke, S. (1989). Enzymatic methylation of L-isoaspartyl residues derived from aspartyl residues in affinity-purified calmodulin. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 54-60.
- Johnson, B. A., Langmack, E. L., and Aswad, D. W. (1987). Partial repair of deamidation-damaged calmodulin by protein carboxyl methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 262, 12283-12287.
- 73. Tarcsa, E., Szymanska, G., Lecker, S., O'Connor, C. M., and Goldberg, A. L. (2000). Ca<sup>+2</sup>-free calmodulin and calmodulin damaged by *in vitro* aging are selectively degraded by 26S proteasomes without ubiquitination. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 20295-20301.
- 74. Johnson, B. A., Shirokawa, J. M., Hancock, W. S., Spellman, M. W., Basa, L. J., and Aswad, D. W. (1989). Formation of isoaspartate at two distinct sites during *in vitro* aging of human growth hormone. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 14262-14271.
- 75. Galletti, P., Iardino, P., Ingrosso, D., Manna, C., and Zappia, V. (1989). Enzymatic methyl esterification of a deamidated form of mouse epidermal growth factor. *Int. J. Peptide Protein Res.* **33**, 397-402.
- 76. George-Nascimento, C., Lowenson, J., Borissenko, M., Calderón, M., Medina-Selby, A., Kuo, J., Clarke, S., and Randolph, A. (1990). Replacement of a labile aspartyl residue increases the stability of human epidermal growth factor. *Biochemistry* **29**, 9584-9591.
- 77. Daumy, G. O., Wilder, C. L., Merenda, J. M., McColl, A. S., Geoghegan, K. F., and Otterness, I. G. (1991). Reduction of biological activity of murine recombinant interleukin-1β by selective deamidation at asparagine-149. *FEBS Lett.* **278**, 98-102.
- Tuong, A., Maftouh, M., Ponthus, C., Whitechurch, O., Roitsch, C., and Picard, C. (1992). Characterization of the deamidated forms of recombinant hirudin. *Biochemistry* 31, 8291-8299.
- 79. Paranandi, M. V., Guzzetta, A. W., Hancock, W. S., and Aswad, D. W. (1994). Deamidation and isoaspartate formation during *in vitro* aging of recombinant tissue plasminogen activator. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 243-253.
- Hsu, Y.-R., Chang, W.-C., Mendiaz, E. A., Hara, S., Chow, D. T., Mann, M. B., Langley, K. E., and Lu, H. S. (1998). Selective deamidation of recombinant human stem cell factor during in vitro aging: Isolation and characterization of the aspartyl and isoaspartyl homodimers and heterodimers. *Biochemistry* 37, 2251-2262.

- 81. Harris, R. J., Kabakoff, B., Macchi, F. D., Shen, F. J., Kwong, M., Andya, J. D., Shire, S. J., and Bjork, N. (2001). Identification of multiple sources of charge heterogeneity in a recombinant antibody. *J. Chromatogr. B Biomed. Sci. Appl.* **752**, 233-245.
- 82. Zhang, W., and Czupryn, M. J. (2003). Analysis of isoaspartate in a recombinant monoclonal antibody and its charge isoforms. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.* **30**, 1479-1490.
- 83. Teshima, G., Porter, J., Yim, K., Ling, V., and Guzzetta, A. (1991). Deamidation of soluble CD4 at asparagine-52 results in reduced binding capacity for the HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein gp120. *Biochemistry* **30**, 3916-3922.
- Bischoff, R., Lepage, P., Jaquinod, M., Cauet, G., Acker-Klein, M., Clesse, D., Laporte, M., Bayol, A., Van Dorsselaer, A., and Roitsch, C. (1993). Sequence-specific deamidation: Isolation and biochemical characterization of succinimide intermediates of recombinant hirudin. *Biochemistry* 32, 725-734.
- 85. DiDonato, A., Galletti, P., and D'Alessio, G. (1986). Selective deamidation and enzymatic methylation of seminal ribonuclease. *Biochemistry* **25**, 8361-8368.
- DiDonato, A., Ciardiello, M. A., deNigris, M., Piccoli, R., Mazzarella, L., and D'Alessio, G. (1993). Selective deamidation of ribonuclease A. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 4745-4751.
- Capasso, S., DiDonato, A., Esposito, L., Sica, F., Sorrentino, G., Vitagliano, L., Zagari, A., and Mazzarella, L. (1996). Deamidation in proteins: The crystal structure of bovine pancreatic ribonuclease with an isoaspartyl residue at position 67. *J.Mol.Biol.* 257, 492-496.
- 88. Galletti, P., Ciardiello, A., Ingrosso, D., DiDonato, A., and D'Alessio, G. (1988). Repair of isopeptide bonds by protein carboxyl *O*-methyltransferase: Seminal ribonuclease as a model system. *Biochemistry* **27**, 1752-1757.
- 89. Johnson, B. A., and Aswad, D. W. (1991). Optimal conditions for the use of protein Lisoaspartyl methyltransferase in assessing the isoaspartate content of peptides and proteins. *Anal.Biochem.* **192**, 384-391.
- 90. Johnson, B. A., Murray, E. D., Jr., Clarke, S., Glass, D. B., and Aswad, D. W. (1987). Protein carboxyl methyltransferase facilitates conversion of atypical L-isoaspartyl peptides to normal L-aspartyl peptides. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 5622-5629.
- 91. McFadden, P. N., and Clarke, S. (1987). Conversion of isoaspartyl peptides to normal peptides: Implications for the cellular repair of damaged proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **84**, 2595-2599.
- 92. Brennan, T. V., Anderson, J. W., Jia, Z., Waygood, E. B., and Clarke, S. (1994). Repair of spontaneously deamidated HPr phosphocarrier protein catalyzed by the L-isoaspartate-(D-aspartate) *O*-methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 24586-24595.
- 93. Tanaka, Y., Tsumoto, K., Yasutake, Y., Umetsu, M., Yao, M., Fukada, H., Tanaka, I., and Kumagai, I. (2004). How oligomerization contributes to the thermostability of an archaeon protein. Protein L-isoaspartyl-O-methyltransferase from *Sulfolobus tokodaii*. J. *Biol. Chem.* **279**, 32957-32967.
- 94. Ryttersgaard, C., Griffith, S. C., Sawaya, M. R., MacLaren, D. C., Clarke, S., and Yeates, T. O. (2002). Crystal structure of human L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 10642-10646.
- 95. Martin, J. L., and McMillan, F. M. (2002). SAM (dependent) I AM: the Sadenosylmethioinine-dependent methyltransferase fold. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **12**, 783-793.

- 96. Schubert, H. L., Blumenthal, R. M., and Cheng, X. (2003). Many paths to methyltransfer: a chronicle of convergence. *Trends Biochem.Sci.* **28**, 329-335.
- 97. Smith, C. D., Barchue, J., Mentel, C., DeLucas, L., Shirasawa, T., and Chattopadhyay, D. (1997). Crystallization and preliminary cryogenic X-ray diffraction analyses of protein L-isoaspartyl *O*-methyltransferase from human fetal brain. *Proteins* **28**, 457-460.
- 98. Ichikawa, J. D., and Clarke, S. (1998). A highly active protein repair enzyme from an extreme thermophile: The L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase from *Thermotoga maritima*. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **358**, 222-231.
- 99. Tatusov, R. L., Fedorova, N. D., Jackson, J. D., Jacobs, A. R., Kiryutin, B., Koonin, E. V., Krylov, D. M., Mazumder, R., Mekhedov, S. L., Nikolskaya, A. N., Rao, S., Smirnov, S., Sverdlov, A. V., Vasudevan, S., Wolf, Y. I., Yin, J. J., and Darren A Natale, D. A. (2003). The COG database: an updated version includes eukaryotes. *Bio Med Central Bioinformatics* 4, 41.
- Klenk, H. P., Clayton, R. A., Tomb, J. F., White, O., Nelson, K. E., Ketchum, K. A., Dodson, R. J., Gwinn, M., Hickey, E. K., Peterson, J. D., Richardson, D. L., Kerlavage, A. R., Graham, D. E., Kyrpides, N. C., Fleischmann, R. D., Quackenbush, J., Lee, N. H., Sutton, G. G., Gill, S., Kirkness, E. F., Dougherty, B. A., McKenney, K., Adams, M. D., Loftus, B., Peterson, S., Reich, C. I., McNeil, L. K., Badger, J. H., Glodek, A., Zhou, L., Overbeek, R., Gocayne, J. D., Weidman, J. F., McDonald, L., Utterback, T., Cotton, M. D., Spriggs, T., Artiach, P., Kaine, B. P., Sykes, S. M., Sadow, P. W., D'Andrea, K. P., Bowman, C., Fujii, C., Garland, S. A., Mason, T. M., Olsen, G. J., Fraser, C. M., Smith, H. O., Woese, C. R., and Venter, J. C. (1997). The complete genome sequence of the hyperthermophilic, sulphate-reducing archaeon Archaeoglobus fulgidus. *Nature* 390, 364-370.
- Nelson, K. E., Clayton, R. A., Gill, S. R., Gwinn, M. L., Dodson, R. J., Haft, D. H., Hickey, E. K., Peterson, J. D., Nelson, W. C., Ketchum, K. A., McDonald, L., Utterback, T. R., Malek, J. A., Linher, K. D., Garrett, M. M., Stewart, A. M., Cotton, M. D., Pratt, M. S., Phillips, C. A., Richardson, D., Heidelberg, J., Sutton, G. G., Fleischmann, R. D., Eisen, J. A., White, O., Salzberg, S. L., Smith, H. O., Venter, J. C., and Fraser, C. M. (1999). Evidence for lateral gene transfer between Archaea and bacteria from genome sequence of Thermotoga maritima. *Nature* **399**, 323-329.
- 102. Altschul, S. F., Madden, T. L., Schäffer, A. A., Zhang, J., Zhang, Z., Miller, W., and Lipman, D. J. (1997). Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucl.Acids Res.* **25**, 3389-3402.
- 103. Kellis, M., Borrem, B. W., and Lander, E. S. (2004). Proof and evolutionary analysis of ancient genome duplication in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Nature* **428**, 617-624.
- 104. Dietrich, F. S., Voegeli, S., Brachat, S., Lerch, A., Gates, K., Steiner, S., Mohr, C., Pohlmann, R., Luedi, P., Choi, S., Wing, R. A., Flavier, A., Gaffney, T. D., and Philippsen, P. (2004). The Ashbya gossypii genome as a tool for mapping the ancient Saccharomyces cerevisiae genome. *Science* **304**, 304-307.
- 105. Fairbanks, G., Steck, T. L., and Wallach, D. F. (1971). Electrophoretic analyses of the major polypeptides of the human erythrocyte membrane. *Biochemistry* **10**, 2606-2617.
- Oden, K. L., and Clarke, S. (1983). S-adenosyl-L-methionine synthetase from human erythrocytes: role in the regulation of cellular S-adenosylmethionine levels. *Biochemistry* 22, 2978-2986.

- O'Connor, C. M., and Clarke, S. (1985). Analysis of erythrocyte protein methyl esters by two-dimensional gel electrophoresis under acidic separating conditions. *Anal. Biochem.* 148, 79-85.
- 108. O'Connor, C. M., and Yutzey, K. E. (1988). Enhanced carboxyl methylation of membrane-associated hemoglobin in human erythrocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **263**, 1386-1390.
- 109. Runte, L., Jürgensmeier, C. U., and Söling, H. D. (1982). Calmodulin carboxylmethyl ester formation in intact human red cells and modulation of this reaction by divalent cations in vitro. *FEBS Lett.* **147**, 125-130.
- 110. Brunauer, L. S., and Clarke, S. (1986). Methylation of calmodulin at carboxylic acid residues in erythrocytes. *Biochem. J.* **236**, 811-820.
- 111. Lou, L. L., and Clarke, S. (1986). Carboxyl methylation of human erythrocyte band 3 in intact cells. *Biochem. J.* 235, 183-187.
- 112. Lou, L. L., and Clarke, S. (1987). Enzymatic methylation of band 3 anion transporter in intact human erythrocytes. *Biochemistry* **26**, 52-59.
- 113. Ladino, C. A., and O'Connor, C. M. (1990). Protein carboxyl methylation and methyl ester turnover in density-fractionated human erythrocytes. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **55**, 123-137.
- 114. Yamamoto, A., Takagi, H., Kitamura, D., Tatsuoka, H., Nakano, H., Kawano, H., Kuroyanagi, H., Yahagi, Y., Kobayashi, S., Koizumi, K., Sakai, T., Saito, K., Chiba, T., Kawamura, K., Suzuki, K., Watanabe, T., Mori, H., and Shirasawa, T. (1998). Deficiency in protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase results in a fatal progressive epilepsy. *J. Neurosci.* 18, 2063-2074.
- 115. Galletti, P., Ingrosso, D., Nappi, A., Gragnaniello, V., Iolascon, A., and Pinto, L. (1983). Increased methyl esterification of membrane proteins in aged red-blood cells. Preferential esterification of ankyrin and band-4.1 cytoskeletal proteins. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **135**, 25-31.
- 116. Low, P. S. (1991). Role of hemoglobin denaturation and band 3 clustering in initiating red cell removal. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **319**, 525-546.
- 117. Ingrosso, D., D'Angelo, S., Di Carlo, E., Perna, A. F., Zappia, V., and Galletti, P. (2000). Increased methyl esterification of altered aspartyl residues in erythrocyte membrane proteins in response to oxidative stress. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **267**, 4397-4405.
- Ingrosso, D., Cimmino, A., D'Angelo, S., Alfinito, F., Zappia, V., and Galletti, P. (2002). Protein methylation as a marker of aspartate damage in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-deficient erythrocytes: role of oxidative stress. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269, 2032-2039.
- 119. Kloog, Y., and Saavadra, J. M. (1983). Protein carboxylmethylation in intact rat posterior pituitary lobes *in vitro*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **258**, 7129-7133.
- 120. Ohta, K., Seo, N., Yoshida, T., Hiraga, K., and Tuboi, S. (1987). Tubulin and high molecular weight microtubule-associated proteins as endogenous substrates for carboxymethyltransferase in brain. *Biochimie* **69**, 1227-1234.
- 121. Macfarlane, D. E. (1984). Inhibitors of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases inhibit protein carboxyl methylation in intact blood platelets. *J. Biol. Chem.* **259**, 1357-1362.
- 122. Barten, D. M., and O'Dea, R. F. (1989). Protein carboxylmethyltransferase activity in intact, differentiated neuroblastoma cells: Quantitation by S-[<sup>3</sup>H]adenosylmethionine prelabeling. *J. Neurochem.* **53**, 1156-1165.
- 123. Clarke, S. (1992). Protein isoprenylation and methylation at carboxyl-terminal cysteine residues. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **61**, 355-386.

- 124. DeBaere, I., Derua, R., Janssens, V., VanHoof, C., Waelkens, E., Merlevede, W., and Goris, J. (1999). Purification of porcine brain protein phosphatase 2A leucine carboxyl methyltransferase and cloning of the human homologue. *Biochemistry* **38**, 16539-16547.
- 125. Dumont, J. N. (1971). Oogenesis in *Xenopus laevis* (Daudin). I. Stages of oocyte development in laboratory maintained animals. *J. Morphol.* **136**, 153-180.
- 126. Smith, L. D., and Richter, J. D. (1985) in "Biology of Fertilization" (Metz, C., and Monroy, A., Eds), pp. 141-187, Academic Press, New York.
- 127. O'Connor, C. M., and Germain, B. J. (1987). Kinetic and electrophoretic analysis of transmethylation reactions in intact *Xenopus laevis* oocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 10404-10411.
- 128. Desrosiers, R. R., Romanik, E. A., and O'Connor, C. M. (1990). Selective carboxyl methylation of structurally altered calmodulins in *Xenopus* oocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 21368-21374.
- Feldherr, C. M., and Ogburn, J. A. (1980). Mechanism for the selection of nuclear polypeptides in Xenopus oocytes. II. Two-dimensional gel analysis. J. Cell Biol. 87, 589-593.
- 130. Romanik, E. A., and O'Connor, C. M. (1989). Methylation of microinjected isoaspartyl peptides in *Xenopus* oocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 14050-14056.
- 131. Szymanska, G., Leszyk, J. D., and O'Connor, C. M. (1998). Carboxyl methylation of deamidated calmodulin increases its stability in *Xenopus* oocyte cytoplasm. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273**, 28516-28523.
- 132. Weber, D. J., and McFadden, P. N. (1997). Detection and characterization of a protein isoaspartyl methyltransferase which becomes trapped in the extracellular space during blood vessel injury. *J. Prot. Chem.* **16**, 257-267.
- 133. Bornstein, P. (1970). Structure of alpha-1-CB8, a large cyanogen bromide produced fragment from the alpha-1 chain of rat collagen. The nature of a hydroxylamine-sensitive bond and composition of tryptic peptides. *Biochemistry* **9**, 2408-2421.
- 134. Cloos, P. A., and Fledelius, C. (2000). Collagen fragments in urine derived from bone resorption are highly racemized and isomerized: a biological clock of protein aging with clinical potential. *Biochem. J.* **345**, 473-480.
- 135. Fledelius, C., Johnsen, A. H., Cloos, P. A., Bonde, M., and Ovist, P. (1997). Characterization of urinary degradation products derived from type I collagen. Identification of a beta-isomerized Asp-Gly sequence within the C-terminal telopeptide (alpha1) region. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 9755-9763.
- 136. Lanthier, J., and Desrosiers, R. R. (2004). Protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase repairs abnormal aspartyl residues accumulated *in vivo* in type-I collagen and restores cell migration. *Exp. Cell Res.* **293**, 96-105.
- Bloemendal, H., de Jong, W., Jaenicke, R., Lubsen, N. H., Slingsby, C., and Tardieu, A. (2004). Ageing and vision: structure, stability and function of lens crystallins. *Prog. Biophys. Mol. Biol.* 86, 407-485.
- 138. McFadden, P. N., Horwitz, J., and Clarke, S. (1983). Protein carboxyl methyltransferase from cow eye lens. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **113**, 418-424.
- 139. McFadden, P. N., and Clarke, S. (1986). Protein carboxyl methyltransferase and methyl acceptor proteins in aging and cataractous tissue of the human eye lens. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* **34**, 91-105.

- 140. Fujii, N., Takemoto, L. J., Momose, Y., Matsumoto, S., Hiroki, K., and Akaboshi, M. (1999). Formation of four isomers at the asp-151 residue of aged human alphaA-crystallin by natural aging. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **265**, 746-751.
- 141. Fujii, N., Shimo-Oka, T., Ogiso, M., Momose, Y., Kodama, T., Kodama, M., and Akaboshi, M. (2000). Localization of biologically uncommon D-beta-aspartatecontaining alphaA-crystallin in human eye lens. *Molecular Vision* **6**, 1-5.
- 142. Kodama, T., Mizobuchi, M., Takeda, R., Torikai, H., Shinomiya, H., and Y., O. (1995). Hampered expression of isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase gene in the human cataractous lens. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1245**, 269-272.
- 143. Roher, A. E., Lowenson, J. D., Clarke, S., Wolkow, C., Wang, R., Cotter, R. J., Reardon, I. M., Zürcher-Neely, H. A., Heinrikson, R. L., Ball, M. J., and Greenberg, B. D. (1993). Structural alterations in the peptide backbone of β-amyloid core protein may account for its deposition and stability in Alzheimer's disease. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 3072-3083.
- 144. Roher, A. E., Lowenson, J. D., Clarke, S., Woods, A. S., Cotter, R. J., Gowing, E., and Ball, M. J. (1993). β-Amyloid-(1-42) is a major component of cerebrovascular amyloid deposits: Implications for the pathology of Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90, 10836-10840.
- 145. Tomiyama, T., Asano, S., Furiya, Y., Shirasawa, T., Endo, N., and Mori, H. (1994). Racemization of Asp<sup>23</sup> residue affects the aggregation properties of Alzheimer amyloid β protein analogues. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 10205-10208.
- Kuo, Y. M., Emmerling, M. R., Woods, A. S., Cotter, R. J., and Roher, A. E. (1997). Isolation, chemical characterization, and quantitation of A beta 3-pyroglutamyl peptide from neuritic plaques and vascular amyloid deposits. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 237, 188-191.
- Fonseca, M. I., Head, E., Velazquez, P., Cotman, C. W., and Tenner, A. J. (1999). The presence of isoaspartic acid in beta-amyloid plaques indicates plaque age. *Exp. Neurol.* 157, 277-288.
- 148. Shimizu, T., Fukuda, H., Murayama, S., Izumiyama, N., and Shirasawa, T. (2002). Isoaspartate formation at position 23 of amyloid beta peptide enhanced fibril formation and deposited onto senile plaques and vascular amyloids in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 70, 451-461.
- 149. Shin, Y., Cho, H. S., Fukumoto, H., Shimizu, T., Shirasawa, T., Greenberg, S. M., and Rebeck, G. W. (2003). Abeta species, including IsoAsp23 Abeta, in Iowa-type familial cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Acta neuropathol.* **105**, 252-258.
- 150. Fukuda, H., Shimizu, T., Nakajima, M., Mori, H., and Shirasawa, T. (1999). Synthesis, aggregation, and neurotoxicity of the Alzheimer's AB1-42 amyloid peptide and its isoaspartyl isomers. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **9**, 953-956.
- 151. Billingsley, M. L., and Kuhn, D. M. (1985). Immunohistochemical localization of protein-*O*-carboxylmethyltransferase in rat brain neurons. *Neuroscience* **15**, 159-171.
- 152. Shirasawa, T., Endoh, R., Zeng, Y.-X., Sakamoto, K., and Mori, H. (1995). Protein Lisoaspartyl methyltransferase: developmentally regulated gene expression and protein localization in the central nervous system of aged rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* **188**, 37-40.
- 153. Farrar, C., Houser, C. R., and Clarke, S. (2005). Activation of the PI3K/Akt signal transduction pathway and increased levels of insulin receptor in protein repair-deficient mice. *Aging Cell* **4**, 1-12.

- 154. Paranandi, M. V., and Aswad, D. W. (1995). Spontaneous alterations in the covalent structure of synapsin I during *in vitro* aging. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **212**, 442-448.
- 155. Shimizu, T., Ikegami, T., Ogawara, M., Suzuki, Y., Takahashi, M., Morio, H., and T., S. (2002). Transgenic expression of the protein-L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase (PIMT) gene in the brain rescues mice from the fatal epilepsy of PIMT deficiency. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 69, 341-352.
- 156. Najbauer, J., Orpiszewski, J., and Aswad, D. W. (1996). Molecular aging of tubulin: Accumulation of isoasparatyl sites in vitro and in vivo. *Biochemistry* **35**, 5183-5190.
- Huebscher, K. J., Lee, J., Rovelli, G., Ludin, B., Matus, A., Stauffer, D., and Furst, P. (1999). Protein isoaspartyl methyltransferase protects from Bax-induced apoptosis. *Gene* 240, 333-341.
- 158. Gagnon, C., Axelrod, J., Musto, N., Dym, M., and Bardin, C. W. (1979). Protein carboxyl-methylation in rat testes: A study of inherited and X-ray-induced seminiferous tubule failure. *Endocrinology* **105**, 1440-1445.
- 159. O'Connor, C. M., Germain, B. J., Guthrie, K. M., Aswad, D. W., and Millette, C. F. (1989). Protein carboxyl methyltransferase activity specific for age-modified aspartyl residues in mouse testes and ovaries: Evidence for translation during spermiogenesis. *Gamete Res.* 22, 307-319.
- 160. Cusan, L., Andersen, D., Tuen, E., and Hansson, V. (1982). Changes in protein carboxylmethylase isoenzymes during testicular development in the rat. *Arch. Androl.* **8**, 285-292.
- Mizobuchi, M., Murao, K., Takeda, R., and Kakimoto, Y. (1994). Tissue-specific expression of isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase gene in rat brain and testis. *J. Neurochem.* 62, 322-328.
- 162. Bouchard, P., Gagnon, C., Phillips, D. M., and Bardin, C. W. (1980). The localization of protein carboxyl-methylase in sperm tails. *J. Cell Biol.* **86**, 417-423.
- 163. Williams-Ashman, H. G., Hatch, R., and Harvey, S. E. (1985). Protein Ocarboxylmethylation in relation to male gamete production and function. *In* "Advances in Enzyme Regulation" (G. Weber, Ed.) Vol. XXIII, pp. 389-416, Pergamon Press, Oxford.
- DeVry, C. G., Tsai, W., and Clarke, S. (1996). Structure of the human gene encoding the protein repair L-isoaspartyl (D-aspartyl) *O*-methyltransferase. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 335, 321-332.
- 165. Takeda, R., Mizobuchi, M., Murao, K., Sato, M., and Takahara, J. (1995). Characterization of three cDNAs encoding two isozymes of an isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase from human erythroid leukemia cells. *J. Biochem.* 117, 683-685.
- 166. Rushmore, T. H., Morton, M. R., and Pickett, C. B. (1991). The antioxidant response element. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 11632-11639.
- 167. Kohno, K., Normington, K., Sambrook, J., Gething, M.-J., and Mori, K. (1993). The promoter region of the yeast *KAR2* gene contains a regulatory domain that responds to the presence of unfolded proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 877-890.
- 168. Braun, R. E. (1998). Post-transcriptional control of gene expression during spermatogenesis. *Semin. Cell Devel. Biol.* **9**, 483-489.

- Kim, E., Lowenson, J. D., Clarke, S., and Young, S. G. (1999). Phenotypic analysis of seizure-prone mice lacking L-isoaspartate (D-aspartate) *O*-methyltransferase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 274, 20671-20678.
- 170. Ikegaya, Y., Yamada, M., Fukuda, T., Kuroyanagi, H., Shirasawa, T., and Nishiyama, N. (2001). Aberrant synaptic transmission in the hippocampal CA3 region and cognitive deterioration in protein-repair enzyme-deficient mice. *Hippocampus* **11**, 287-298.
- 171. Vitali, R., and Clarke, S. (2004). Improved rotorod performance and hyperactivity in mice deficient in a protein repair methyltransferase. *Behav. Brain Res.* **153**, 129-141.
- Lowenson, J. D., Kim, E., Young, S. G., and Clarke, S. (2001). Limited accumulation of damaged proteins in L-isoaspartyl (D-aspartyl) *O*-methyltransferase -deficient mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 20695-20702.
- 173. Farrar, C., and Clarke, S. (2002). Altered levels of S-adenosylmethionine and Sadenosylhomocysteine in the brains of L-isoaspartyl (D-Aspartyl) O-methyltransferase deficient mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* **277**, 27856-27863.
- 175. Axelrod, J. (2003). Journey of a late blooming biochemical neuroscientist. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 1-13.
- 176. Shen-Miller, J., Mudgett, M. B., Schopf, J. W., Clarke, S., and Berger, R. (1995). Exceptional seed longevity and robust growth: Ancient sacred lotus from China. Am. J. Botany 82, 1367-1380.
- Thapar, N., Kim, A.-K., and Clarke, S. (2001). Distinct patterns of expression but similar biochemical properties of protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase in higher plants. *Plant Physiol.* **125**, 1023-1035.
- 178. Chavous, D. A. (2001). Overexpression of protein carboxyl methyltransferase extends lifespan in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Ph.D.thesis, Biology Dept., Boston College, Chestnut Hill, MA.
- O'Connor, M. B., Galus, A., Hartenstine, M., Magee, M., Jackson, F. R., and O'Connor, C. M. (1997). Structural organization and developmental expression of the protein isoaspartyl methyltransferase gene from *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 27, 49-54.
- Chavous, D. A., Jackson, F. R., and O'Connor, C. M. (2001). Extension of the Drosophila lifespan by overexpression of a protein repair methyltransferase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98, 14814-14818.
- 181. Cherbas, L., and Cherbas, P. (1993). The arthropod initiator: The capsite consensus plays an important role in transcription. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* **23**, 81-90.
- 182. Shuey, D. J., and Parker, C. S. (1986). Binding of Drosophila heat-shock gene transcription factor to the hsp 70 promoter. Evidence for symmetric and dynamic interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 7934-7940.
- 183. Brand, A. H., and Perrimon, N. (1993). Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. *Development* **118**, 401-415.
- 184. Orr, W. C., and Sohal, R. S. (1994). Extension of life-span by overexpression of superoxide dismutase and catalase in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Science* **263**, 1128-1130.
- 185. Parkes, T. L., Elia, A. J., Dickinson, D., Hilliker, A. J., Phillips, J. P., and Boulianne, G. L. (1998). Extension of *Drosophila* lifespan by overexpression of human *SOD1* in motorneurons. *Nature Genet.* 19, 171-174.

- 186. Sun, J., and Tower, J. (1999). FLP recombinase-mediated induction of Cu/Zn-superoxide dismutase transgene expression can extend the life span of adult *Drosophila melanogaster* flies. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **19**, 216-228.
- 187. Sun, J., Folk, D., Bradley, T. J., and Tower, J. (2002). Induced overexpression of mitochondrial Mn-superoxide dismutase extends the life span of adult *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Genetics* **161**, 661-672.
- 188. Tatar, M., Khazaeli, A. A., and Curtsinger, J. W. (1997). Chaperoning extended life. *Nature* **390**, 30.
- 189. Ruan, H., Tang, X. D., Chen, M.-L., Joiner, M.-L. A., Sun, G., Brot, N., Weissbach, H., Heinemann, S. H., Iverson, L., Wu, C.-F., and Hoshi, T. (2002). High-quality life extension by the enzyme peptide methionine sulfoxide reductase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 99, 2748-2753.
- 190. Baugh, L. R., Hill, A. A., Slonin, D. K., Brown, E. L., and Hunter, C. P. (2003). Composition and dynamics of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* early embryonic transcriptome. *Development* **130**, 889-900.
- 191. Hill, A. A., Hunter, C. P., Tsung, B. T., Tucker-Kellogg, G., and Brown, E. L. (2000). Genomic analysis of gene expression in *C. elegans. Science* **290**, 809-812.
- 192. McElwee, J. J., Schuster, E., Blanc, E., Thomas, J. H., and Gems, D. (2004). Shared transcriptional signature in *Caenorhabditis elegans* dauer larvae and long-lived *daf-2* mutants implicates detoxification system in longevity assurance. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 44533-44543.
- 193. Wang, J., and Kim, S. K. (2003). Global analysis of dauer gene expression in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Development* **130**, 1621-1634.
- 194. Kim, S. K., Lund, J., Kiraly, M., Duke, K., Jiang, M., Stuart, J. M., Eizinger, A., Wylie, B. N., and Davidson, G. S. (2001). A gene expression map for *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Science* 293, 2087-2092.
- 195. Fu, J. C., Ding, L., and Clarke, S. (1991). Purification, gene cloning, and sequence analysis of an L-isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase from *Escherichia coli*. J. *Biol. Chem.* **266**, 14562-14572.
- 196. David, C. L., Keener, J., and Aswad, D. W. (1999). Isoaspartate in ribosomal protein S11 of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriology **181**, 2872-2877.
- 197. Visick, J. E., Ichikawa, J. K., and Clarke, S. (1998). Mutations in the *Escherichia coli surE* gene increase isoaspartyl accumulation in a strain lacking the *pcm* repair methyltransferase but suppress stress-survival phenotypes. *FEMS Ltrs.* **167**, 19-25.
- 198. Visick, J. E., Cai, H., and Clarke, S. (1998). The L-isoaspartyl protein repair methyltransferase enhances survival of aging *Escherichia coli* subjected to secondary environmental stresses. *J.Bacteriol.* **180**, 2623-2629.
- 199. Hicks, W. M., Kotlajich, M. V., and Visick, J. E. (2005). Recovery from long-term stationary phase and stress survival in *Escherichia coli* require the L-isoaspartyl protein carboxyl methyltransferase at alkaline pH. *Microbiology* **151**, 2151-2158.
- 200. Kern, R., Malki, A., Abdallah, J., Liebart, J.-C., Dubucs, C., Yu, M. H., and Richarme, G. (2005). Protein isoaspartate methyltransferase is a multicopy suppressor of protein aggregation in *Escherichia coli*. *J.Bacteriol*. **187**, 1377-1383.
- 201. Young, G.W., Hoffring, S.A., Mamula, M.J., Doyle, H.A., Bunick, G.J., Hu, Y., Aswad, D.W. (2005). Protein L-isoaspartyl methyltransferase catalyzes *in vivo* racemization of aspartate-25 in mammalian histone H2B. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 26094-26098.

202. Castillo, M.B., Celio, M.R., Andressen, C., Gotzos, V., Rulicke, T., Berger, M.C., Weber, J., and Berchtold, M.W. (1995). Production and analysis of transgenic mice with ectopic expression of parvalbumin. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **317**, 292-298.

## **FOOTNOTES**

<sup>1</sup>Abbreviations: PIMT: protein L-isoaspartyl, D-aspartyl *O*-methyltransferase; AdoMet: S-adenosylmethionine; AdoHcy: S-adenosylhomocysteine; CaM: calmodulin; NLS: nuclear localization signal; ROS: reactive oxygen species

Species	Gene name	TrEMBL/Swiss Protein	Database Identifier	PDB Accession	Literature References
E. coli	рст	P24206	b2743		195
P. furiosus	рст	Q8TZR3	PF1922	1JG1-1JG4	19
T. maritima	рст	Q56308	TM0704	1DL5	18
S. tododaii	рст	Q972K9	ST1123	1VBF	93
S. pombe	pcm2	Q9URZ1	SPAC869.08		
C. elegans	pcm-1	Q27873	C10F3.5		45
D. melanogaster	Pcmt	Q27869	CG2152	1R18	20
A. thaliana	PIMT1	Q42539	At3g48330		38
A. thaliana	PIMT2	Q8GXQ4	At5g50240		39
T. aestivum	РСМ	Q43209			27
M. musculus	Pcmt1	P23506	MGI:97502		16
H. sapiens	PCMT1	P22061	HGNC:8728	1I1N, 1KR5	43, 94, 164

Table IAccession information for PIMTs in online databases

Accession numbers and gene names were obtained from various online databases. There are numerous links between the databases, so key URLs are given below. Detailed information for bacterial species and higher plants can be obtained at The Institute for Genomic Research (www.tigr.org). Information for human, mouse and *S. pombe* can be accessed through the Sanger Center (www.sanger.ac.uk) or the National Center for Biotechnology Information (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). Species-sepcific databases include information for *Drosophila* (flybase.bio.indiana.edu), *C. elegans* (www.wormbase.org) and *Arabidopsis* (www.arabidopsis.org). Other useful URLs are those for TrEMBL/Swiss Protein (us.expasy.org/sprot) and the Protein Data Bank (www.rcsb.org).



**Figure 1.** Enzymatic reaction. PIMT catalyzes the transfer of methyl groups from AdoMet to protein L-isoaspartyl and D-aspartyl residues. Methyl esters spontaneously hydrolyze to form a succinimidyl structure.



**Figure 2.** Spontaneous and enzymatic conversions involving the peptide VYP(X)HA, where X represents an Asn, Asp, isoAsp or a methyl ester. Relative rate constants for the various interconversions were calculated from the experimental data in references [50] and [53].



**Figure 3.** Topology diagram and three-dimensional structure of *Drosophila* PIMT (PDB accession number 1R18). The methyltransferase fold common to Class I AdoMet-dependent is shown in dark shading, and the N-terminal subdomain characteristic of PIMTs. is shown in light shading [20]. An asterisk shows the position of the sulfur atom in AdoHcy. The open arrow indicates a loop whose position is significantly different in AdoMet and AdoHcy co-crystals [19]. The position of Ser-60 essential for catalysis is indicated.

EPASCOH.	EP.S.C.H.	EPASCDH.	EPASCDH
sapiens melanogaster elegans pombe thaliana furiosus coli	sapiens melanogaster elegans pombe thaliana furiosus coli	sapiens melanogaster elegans pombe thaliana furiosus coli	sapiens melanogaster elegans pombe thaliana furiosus coli
OLKPGGRLIILPVGPAGGNOMLEQYDKLQDGSIKMKPLMGVIYVPLTDKEKQWSRWK 227 QLASGGRLIVPVGPDGGSQYMQQYDKDANGKVEMTRLMGVMYVPLTDLRS 226 QLAEGGRMMIPVEQVDGNQVFMQIDKIN-GKIEQKIVEHVIYVPLTDLRSEEQWNRN- 225 QLKSPGKILIPIGTYSONIYLIEKNEQGKISKRTLFPVRYVPLTDSPDDSSDY- 230 QLKSPGRLVIPVGNIFQDLQVVDKNSDGSVSIKDETSVRYVPLTDSPEAQLRGD- 230 QLKIGGKLIIPVGSYHLWQELLEVRKTK-DGIKIKNHGGVAFVPLIG-EYGWKE 219 QLDEGGILVLPVGEEHQYLKRVRRG-GEFIIDTVEAVRFVPLVKGELA 208	IVDDSVNNVRKDDPTLLSSGRVQLVVGDGRMGYAEEAPYDAIHVGAAAPVVPQALID 171 IVRRSKANLNTDDRSMLDSGQLLIVEGDGRKGYPPNAPYNAIHVGAAAPDTPTELIN 176 IVELSEKNIRKHHSEQLERGNVIIIEGDGRQGFAEKAPYNAIHVGAASKGVPKALTD 171 IVETSKKNLLKDINHDEVLMEMYKEKRLQINVGDGRMGTSEDEKFDAIHVGAASKSGVPKALTD 177 IVASSVKNIEASAASPFLKERSLAVHVGDGRQGWAEFAPYDAIHVGAAAPEIPEALID 177 IVEFAKRNLERAGVKNVHVILGDGSKGFPFKAPYDVIIVTAGAPKIPEPLIE 167 IQWQARRRLKNLDLHNVSTRHGDGWQGWQARAPFDAIIVTAGAPKIPEIPTALMT 160	ATISAPHMHAYALELLFDQLHEGAKALDVGSGSGILTACFARMVGCTGKVIGIDHIKE 114 VTISAPHMHAFALEYLRDHLKPGARILDVGSGSGYLTACFYRYIKAKGVDADTRIVGIEHQAE 119 ATVSAPHMHAFALDYLQNHLVAGAKALDVGSGSGYLTVCMAMMVGRNGTVVGIEHMPQ 114 VTISAPHMHATALQELEPVLQPGCSALDIGSGSGYLVAAMARMVAPNGTVKGIEHIPQ 114 VTISAPHMHATALQLLEKHLKPGMRVLDVGSGTGYLTACFAVMVGTEGRAIGVEHIPE 119 QTVSAPHMVAIMLEIANLKPGMNILEVGTGSGWNAALISEIVKTDVYTIERIPE 115 QTISQPYMVARMTELLELTPQSRVLEIGTGSGYQTAILAHLVQHVCSVERIKG 108	MAWK-SGGASHSELIHNIRKNGIIKTDKVFEVMLATDRSHYAKCNPYMDSPQSIGFQ 56 MAWR-SVGANNEDLIRQIKDHGVIASDAVAQAMKETDRKHYSPRNPYMDAPQPIGGG 56 MAWR-SSGSTNSELIDNIRNNRVFASQRAYDAMKSVDRGDFAPRAPYEDAPQRIGYN 56 MFWS-FNLSSNAALVQHIVESKFLTNQRAIKAMNATSRSFYCPLSPYMDSPQSIGYG 56 MKQFWSPSSINKNKAMVENIQNHGIVTSDEVAKAMEAVDRGVFVTDRSSAYVDSPMSIGYN 61 MMDEKELYEKWMRTVEMIKAEGIIRSKEVERAFLKYPRYLFVEDKYKKYAHIDEPLPIPAG 61

**Figure 4.** Alignment of PIMIT sequences using the Clustal W algorithm (<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk</u>). Invariant residues are shown by white letters on a black background. Strongly conserved regions are shaded.



**Figure 5.** Phylogenetic tree for PIMTs constructed from the alignment data in Fig. 4 using the phylip algorithm from the European Bioinformatics Institute (<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk</u>).



**Figure 6.** Methylation of membrane and cytosolic proteins in human erythrocytes. Stained gel (left) and fluorogram (right) of proteins prepared from erythrocytes incubated with L-[methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]methionine and separated by SDS-PAGE at pH 2.4. Cytosolic proteins (lane A), membrane proteins (lane B), proteins extracted from membranes with 100 mM NaCl (lane C) or 0.5% Nonidet P-40 (lane D). Reproduced from Figure 1 in O'Connor and Yutzey [108].



**Figure 7.** Methyl-accepting activity of yolk proteins obtained from oocytes at different stages of oogenesis. Yolk proteins were isolated from vitellogenic oocytes ranging in diameter from 0.6-0.7 mm (lane 1), 0.7-0.8 mm (lane 2), 0.8-0.925 mm (lane 3), 0.925-1.075 mm (lane 4), 1.075-1.2 mm (lane 5) and 1.2 to 1.25 mm (lane 6) and used as the substrate for PIMT and [<sup>3</sup>H]AdoMet. Methylated proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE at pH 2.4 and methylated proteins were visualized by fluorography. Reproduced from Fig. 5 in O'Connor [62].